### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008 Update

Andrea Hudson, BA Psych, BScPhm, PharmD, RPh

This program has been approved for **2.5 CEUs** by the Canadian Council on Continuing Education in Pharmacy CCCEP #829-1208UD This lesson is valid until February 3, 2012



This lesson has been sponsored with an unrestricted educational grant from

# ratiopharm

### **Lesson description**

This program is an update to the Herbal Medicine in Canada Part II continuing education lesson presented in 2000. Seven different herbal medicines are described and seven case studies are included. The herbal medicines that will be covered are:

- ginger
- milk thistle
- valerian
- German chamomile
- evening primrose
- wild yam
- licorice

This lesson includes detailed explanations of homeopathy, nutritional supplementation, and naturopathic medicine. This will allow community pharmacists to offer their clients appropriate advice regarding these different modalities. In addition, useful botanical medicine resources are identified and described and participants are provided with tips for critically evaluating both print and electronic information sources.

### **Learning objectives**

pon successful completion of this lesson, participants will be able to:

- distinguish the practice of herbal medicine from those of homeopathy and nutritional supplementation
- overcome challenges in obtaining information about herbal medicine
- · facilitate critical evaluation of commercial claims
- understand the key features of current natural product legislation and learn the proposed regulatory changes
- advise a patient on seven common herbal products: ginger, milk thistle, valerian, German chamomile, evening primrose, wild yam, and licorice
- explain to a patient what to expect from these herbal products with regards to both intended action and adverse effects
- advise against the use of herbal products where contraindications exist

### **Disclaimer**

We have done our best to produce an accurate, timely, and educational Learning Series. However, MediResource Inc., the sponsors, the authors, the reviewers, and the editors assume no responsibility for any errors or consequences arising from the use of information contained within this program. With the constant changes in practice and regional differences, it remains the responsibility of the readers as professionals to interpret and

apply this lesson's information to their own practices. All rights reserved.

For this lesson, in compliance with sections 10.2 and 10.3 of the *Guidelines and Criteria for CCCEP Accreditation*, the author, expert reviewers, and MediResource Inc. report no real or potential conflict of interest in relation to the sponsor of the CE lesson.

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

### **Author**

Andrea Hudson, BA Psych, BScPhm, PharmD, RPh

Andrea Hudson graduated from the PharmD program at the University of Toronto in 1995. Since graduating, Andrea has been involved in developing and providing many continuing education programs for pharmacists and other health care professionals on a wide variety of medical condition and practice topics, including herbal medicine. Her areas of interest include practice research, communications skills, and evidence-based medicine. She currently works part-time in community pharmacy, and writes and reviews internet-based consumer medical information.

### **Expert reviewers**

#### Zubin Austin BScPhm MBA MISc PhD

Zubin Austin is Associate Professor and OCP Professor in Pharmacy at the Leslie Dan Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Toronto. He has published over 55 peer reviewed manuscripts and received numerous awards for teaching and research. His research interests include patient and health professional education and interprofessional collaborative care.

#### Paul Richard Saunders, MSc, PhD, ND, DHANP, CCH

After earning a PhD in plant ecology from Duke University, Paul Saunders graduated from The Ontario (now The Canadian) College of Naturopathic Medicine, and then earned an additional ND degree at National College of Naturopathic Medicine, Portland, Oregon. Dr. Saunders introduced the practice of peer-reviewing during his tenure as editor of The Canadian Journal of Herbalism (2000-2002) and continues to publish peer-reviewed articles. Over the course of his career, he has participated in numerous conferences, delivered lectures for prominent groups, and been honoured with various awards and distinctions. Dr. Saunders conducts research and teaches botanical medicine, parenteral therapy, venipuncture, and art and practice of naturopathic medicine. He runs a private practice in Dundas, Ontario.

### **Contents**

#### page

1

1

3

3

4

4

6

6

8

10

11

13

15

16

1. Introduction 1

- 2. What exactly is herbal medicine?
- 3. Special dosage forms 1
  - 3.1 Herbal teas
- 1 3.2 Tinctures 2
  - 3.3 Standardized extracts
- 2 4. Distinguishing between herbal medicines and other forms of complementary and alternative medicine
- 2 4.1 Homeopathy
  - 4.2 Nutritional supplements
  - 4.3 Naturopathic medicine
- 5. Regulation of herbal medicine in Canada 3
  - 5.1 Evidence to support claims
  - 5.2 Quality control
- 5 6. Herbal safety
- 5 Table 1. Potential mechanisms of adverse results from herbal medicines
- 5 Table 2. Examples of potential adverse events with herbal products
- 7. Drug-herb interactions 6
  - 7.1 Pharmacokinetic interactions
  - 7.2 Pharmacodynamic interactions
- 6 8. Information sources for botanical medicine 7
  - 8.1 General approach to advising patients
- 8 9. Case 1
  - 9.1 Herbal monograph: Ginger
- 10 10. Case 2
  - 10.1 Herbal monograph: Wild yam
- 11 11. Case 3
  - 11.1 Herbal monograph: Valerian
- 13 12. Case 4
  - 12.1 Herbal monograph: German chamomile
- 13. Case 5 15
  - 13.1 Herbal monograph: Evening primrose
- 16 14. Case 6
  - 14.1 Herbal monograph: Licorice
- 18 15. Case 7
- 15.1 Herbal monograph: Milk thistle 18
- 20 References
- **Appendix** 28
- 29 Questions

### 1. Introduction

erbal medicine (also known as botanical medicine) is considered by most to be a form of complementary/alternative medicine (CAM). It is currently estimated that approximately 54% of Canadians have used some form of CAM and that more than \$5 billion is spent each year on CAM therapies and products.<sup>1</sup> According to A.C. Nielsen Canada, total sales of the top 6 herbal products in Canadian drug stores (echinacea, garlic, ginseng, ginkgo, evening primrose oil, St. John's wort) in 2001 were almost \$57 million (*Pharmacy Post*, April 2002). A recent survey of a random sample of breast cancer survivors in Ontario found that almost 25% of those surveyed reported using herbal therapy.<sup>2</sup>

In addition, use of botanical medicine appears to be increasing dramatically, even faster than other forms of CAM. In general, use of CAM appears to be more common among women (who have also been reported to use more conventional health care services) and among individuals who have been diagnosed with a chronic disease. A variety of studies have found a correlation between the use of CAM and higher-than-average incomes and levels of education. Pharmacists are increasingly becoming primary sources of information about CAM generally and herbal medicine specifically, in part because of their accessibility to patients.

The motivation for patients to use CAM is complex. In general, it is important that patients seeking the use of CAM should assess the credibility as well as weigh the potential risks and benefits. Pharmacists may adopt a systematic approach developed to advise these patients on natural health products<sup>3</sup> and CAM in general.<sup>4</sup> This will be discussed in more details in a later section.

One important aspect of counselling patients interested in CAM is helping them distinguish herbal medicine from other CAM therapies such as homeopathy, naturopathic medicine, and the use of nutritional supplements. While some general advice may apply to all of these modalities, other safety and efficacy issues are specific to botanical medicine.

## 2. What exactly is herbal medicine?

Herbal medicine is the use of a plant, alga, or fungus or their extracts or isolates for a therapeutic reason. This could be in the prevention, the treatment, or the amelioration of a disease state or symptom. Other terms used to describe herbal medicine include botanical medicine, phytomedicine, phytotherapy, and herbology. Pharmacognosy is the discipline covering all areas of medicinal plant research.

There are many different approaches to the use of plants as medicines. For example, traditional Chinese doctors and practitioners of Ayurvedic (i.e., East Indian) medicine would prescribe different herbs than Western herbalists. This is based on different health beliefs or paradigms regarding the mechanism of disease or origin of the patient's symptoms.

In pharmacies today, products used both by Eastern and Western practitioners can be found. This can present the pharmacist with many challenges, including inconsistent dosage regimens and unfamiliar dosage forms.

### 3. Special dosage forms

Herbal medicines may not always come in typical tablets, capsules, or suspensions familiar to pharmacists. While manufacturers have found methods to incorporate traditional dosage forms into preparations resembling modern medicines, it is important to understand the intended dosage form so that the proper dose can be established. Some of the more popular dosage forms of herbal medicines are summarized below.

#### 3.1 Herbal teas

Herbal teas can be prepared as either a decoction or an infusion. Decoctions are reserved for bulky or fibrous plant materials like roots or barks. A product like licorice is prepared as decoction by directly boiling the plant matter in water. Infusions are used for delicate plant materials such as leaves or flowers (e.g., peppermint, lemon).

#### **3.2 Tinctures**

A tincture is prepared by macerating or percolating plant material in a mixture of water and alcohol. Changing the ratio of water to alcohol can lead to more selective extraction of certain compounds based on their relative solubility in alcohol and water. Tinctures are popular with practitioners who use raw plant ingredients, since they allow for the formulation of combination products specific to an individual patient's needs. However, tinctures are not always appropriate formulations, as the extraction process may leave important ingredients behind. For example, while tablets made with powdered feverfew leaf are clinically proven to reduce the incidence and severity of migraine headaches, a tincture proved to be ineffective.<sup>5</sup>

#### **3.3 Standardized extracts**

A standardized extract is a commercial product in which a specific concentration or level of activity of a particular constituent or group of constituents is guaranteed. While all of the original constituents may still be present, they are often not in the same proportions found in the whole herb. Since herbal products have more than one active ingredient, it is impossible to standardize a product to a single active agent that is solely responsible for the herb's medicinal properties. More often, a "marker" constituent is chosen for standardization. The constituent chosen may be a biologically active agent contributing to the herb's effects, such as hyperforin in St. John's wort, or it may be an inactive agent characteristic of the correct species or variety of the herb, such as echinacoside in echinacea. The aim of standardizing to a measurable single constituent is to ensure product identity, quality, and reproducibility.

### 4. Distinguishing between herbal medicines and other forms of complementary and alternative medicine

Pharmacists often need to teach patients how to distinguish between the different therapies included under the umbrella term CAM. It is important to realize that the term "complementary/alternative medicine" is primarily a political rather than a practical identification.<sup>6</sup> As more scientific evidence becomes available to support the safety and efficacy of some agents and therapies previously identified as complementary/ alternative (e.g., St. John's wort in mild-to-moderate depression) and the number of CAM courses offered in North American medical and pharmacy schools increases, the definition of CAM is becoming more difficult. Despite the lack of precision in the definitions of CAM, most people (especially Western health care practitioners) find it easy to distinguish therapies considered to be CAM from therapies used in conventional medicine. It is more challenging to distinguish between therapies included within the practice of CAM. To the community pharmacist, one of the most confusing is distinguishing herbal medicine from homeopathic medicine, nutritional supplements, and naturopathic medicine.

#### 4.1 Homeopathy

The practice of homeopathy is essentially based on the philosophy of similia similibus curentur, or "like cures like."7 Simply put, a substance that in a high dose causes a particular physiological action (e.g., bee venom) can be used in smaller doses to treat a condition with similar presenting symptoms (e.g., inflammation, skin redness, throbbing pain).<sup>8</sup> Homeopathic medicines (or remedies) are made by systematically diluting the raw (base) material in a series of either 1 in 10 (decimal or X, D, DH), 1 in 100 (centesimal or C, CH, K), or 1 in 1000 (millesimal or M) dilutions. For example, a product that is labelled as 6X, 6D or 6DH has undergone a 1 in 10 dilution six times. Similarly, a product labelled as 2C, 2CH or 2K has undergone a 1 in 100 dilution twice. A major controversy is that remedies made by 12 centesimal dilutions (12CH or 10<sup>-24</sup>) or greater will not contain any of the original raw material because they have been diluted beyond Avogadro's number (6.02×10<sup>23</sup>, the number of molecules in a mole).8 This fact negates the comparison made by many between immunization and highdilution homeopathic preparations.

Most commercial homeopathic remedies are made according to the established manufacturing procedures from the French, German, or US homeopathic pharmacopœias. Hence, the quality and reproducibility of homeopathic products is excellent, which is not always the case with botanical preparations.<sup>8</sup> While homeopathic remedies were originally given as single remedies (classical homeopathy), current commercially available homeopathic self-medication products often contain more than one homeopathic medicine and may be combined with herbal medicines.<sup>8</sup>

The exact mechanism of action of homeopathy is unclear. Many homeopathic practitioners believe that the remedies do not act on the disease process but rather encourage the body's own defensive healing ability. This is commonly referred to as the "vital force."7 According to this philosophy, patients' symptoms are considered to be a result of specific "imbalances" in this vital force. The lack of a plausible explanation is a major stumbling block to wide acceptance of homeopathy, especially among conventional health care practitioners in Western countries. However, it is important to note that no satisfactory biomedical model has been developed to explain clinically meaningful responses to some conventional medicines. Most recent research has focused on evaluating the effectiveness of homeopathy. While a number of clinical trials have shown that homeopathic medicine is superior to placebo,<sup>7,9-13</sup> the quality of trials and conclusions drawn have often been questioned.7,14 A meta-analysis of 89 trials in 1997

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

reported that homeopathy, as a discipline, was probably superior to placebo.<sup>15</sup> However, this effect could partly be due to the larger benefits reported from trials with poorer study design.<sup>16</sup> Also, the relevance of this study has been questioned, since it is comparable to reviewing all conventional drug trials and claiming that drugs work better than placebos.<sup>17</sup> Indeed, a more recent meta-analysis comparing 110 homeopathy trials and 110 matched conventional-medicine trials (all placebo-controlled) reported that the clinical effects of homeopathy are likely placebo effects after biases in the trials were accounted for.<sup>18</sup>

Adverse effects directly attributed to homeopathic medicines have been very rare and were associated with adulterated products.<sup>19</sup> In addition, allergic reactions to homeopathic products of low dilutions (i.e., that still contain small amounts of the original base product) have been noted.<sup>7</sup> Finally, a review of adverse effects attributed to CAM conducted in the United Kingdom identified a number of cases of indirect problems resulting from poor advice given by homeopathic practitioners.<sup>20</sup>

#### **4.2 Nutritional supplements**

The use of nutritional supplements constitutes a large part of complementary/alternative medicine in North America. While no universally accepted definition of nutritional supplements exists, they are generally considered to include agents such as vitamins, minerals, amino acids, essential fatty acids, digestive enzymes, and derivatives of these substances.<sup>6</sup> Examples include vitamin C, vitamin E, zinc, magnesium, glucosamine salts, coenzyme Q10, and bromelain. A term becoming more popular among CAM practitioners to describe this therapy is orthomolecular medicine, which can be defined as the use of nutritional substances given in high pharmacologic doses to alter specific biochemical functions in the body.<sup>6</sup> While the basic mechanisms of action of these various agents are generally more widely accepted by conventional health care practitioners than those of homeopathic medicine, their safety and efficacy is still the subject of much debate. The quality of evidence supporting the use of these agents varies greatly between different supplements.<sup>21</sup> Generally, these supplements lend themselves well to conventional clinical evaluation methods such as randomized controlled trials, although relatively few such trials have been conducted to date.

Some products marketed as nutritional supplements are derived from plant sources and therefore are often confused with herbal medicine. Examples include the proanthocyanidin-rich extracts such as pycnogenol and grape-seed extract; flavonoids such as quercetin and rutin; and digestive enzymes such as bromelain (from pineapple) and papain (from papaya). In general, while whole plant products are not considered to be nutritional supplements, there are some exceptions such as herbs widely used in cooking (i.e., garlic and ginger).

#### 4.3 Naturopathic medicine

Naturopathic medicine (or naturopathy) is a discipline rather than a specific kind of supplement. Naturopathic medicine is an eclectic practice regulated in 4 provinces (Ontario, British Columbia, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba). Naturopathic practitioners are generalists who use a number of CAM therapies, including herbal medicine. In fact, naturopathic practitioners are the only clinicians that are required to pass licensing exams in this discipline. Many CAM products are referred to as naturopathic products, which provides little or no indication of the type of product being described. This term is not specific to botanical medicine and should not be used due to the confusion it creates. More information about naturopathic medicine in Canada can be obtained from the Canadian College of Naturopathic Medicine (CCNM) website, www.ccnm.edu, or from the Canadian Association of Naturopathic Doctors (CAND) website, www. cand.ca.

## 5. Regulation of herbal medicine in Canada<sup>22</sup>

The Natural Heath Products Directorate (NHPD) has recently been formed as part of the Health Products and Food branch of Health Canada to regulate natural health products for sale in Canada. Under the Natural Health Products Regulations, which came into effect on January 1, 2004, natural health products are defined as:

- vitamins and minerals
- herbal remedies
- homeopathic medicines
- traditional medicines such as traditional Chinese medicines and Ayurvedic medicines
- probiotics
- other products such as amino acids and essential fatty acids

The natural health products can be manufactured, sold, or represented like a regular drug for use in:

• the diagnosis, treatment, mitigation, or prevention of a disease, disorder, or abnormal physical state or its symptoms in humans (*therapeutic claims*)

 restoring or correcting organic functions in humans (*risk reduction claims*)

However, they can also be made and sold for use in modifying organic functions in humans, such as modifying those functions in a manner that maintains or promotes health (structure-function claims).

Natural health products must be safe for consideration as over-the-counter products, be available for self-care and self-selection, and not require a prescription to be sold. Products requiring a prescription will continue to be regulated under the Food and Drug Regulations.

The Natural Health Products Regulations provide a staged approach over a 6-year period beginning in January 2004, with a 3-phase transition over the following schedule:

- Beginning on January 1, 2004, all natural health products with a product licensed as a Drug Identification Number (DIN) were transferred to have an NPN or a DIN-HM (homeopathic medicine); all new products that fit the natural health products definition had to comply with the *Natural Health Products Regulations* immediately and obtain a product licence before being sold in Canada.
- Beginning on January 1, 2006, all manufacturers, importers, packagers, and labellers were required to employ good manufacturing practices (GMPs) and have site licences.
- All natural health products must comply with all the Regulations by January 1, 2010.

During this transition period, Health Canada is prioritizing on a risk-mitigation basis and applying focused compliance efforts against categories of natural health products without product licences.

#### 5.1 Evidence to support claims

The Natural Health Products Regulations require that applicants for a natural product licence must submit an overall analysis of all the relevant evidence relating to the proposed claim for the natural health product and provide appropriate references. A wide range of evidence can be considered and can include the following (in descending order of quality [strength]):

- references to scientific evidence (in descending order of strength):
  - systematic reviews and meta-analyses of randomized controlled clinical trials
  - > randomized controlled clinical trials

- studies without randomization and/or control groups<sup>235</sup>
- > descriptive and observational studies (e.g., correlational studies, cohort studies, case-control studies)
- > peer-reviewed published articles, reputable regulatory authority reports, previous marketing experience, expert reports
- references to traditional use:
  - one pharmacopœial reference (e.g., *Pharma-copœia of the People's Republic of China* or the State Drug Standard, or the Ayurvedic Pharmacopœia of India),<sup>235</sup> or
  - > at least two independent references to traditional use, or
  - one independent reference and an expert opinion report

When claims of traditional use are made for a natural health product, lower levels of evidence may be used to support the claim. However, the NDPD requires that the natural health product have at least 50 consecutive years of traditional use. Traditional use claims can be supported by pharmacopœial evidence relevant to the origin of the traditional use. For example, a product used in traditional Chinese medicine may use either the Pharmacopœia of the People's Republic of China or the State Drug Standard as a reference. To use a pharmacopœial reference, the natural health product must be identical to the pharmacopœial reference for the following items: medicinal ingredients, quantity of crude material equivalent, use or purpose, dose, route of administration, duration of use, dosage form, directions, risk information, and preparation. Traditional use products that do not meet the pharmacopœia requirements must provide at least two references that do not reference the same source or each other. If only one reference exists, or if several references refer back to a single source, an expert opinion report based on at least 50 years' experience could serve as the second reference.235

#### 5.2 Quality control

One of the aims of the Natural Health Products Regulations is to address the problem of poor quality control. This involves requiring all manufacturers of natural health products to obtain site licences and to follow the GMPs beginning January 1, 2006. This is a crucial element of the Natural Health Products Regulations, since previously many consumers assumed that just because herbal products were bottled in packaging like a pharmaceutical there must have been standards in place to assure quality. Unfortunately, there was no guarantee that a bottle contained the product it claimed to contain.

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

Worse yet, there was no assurance that the product was manufactured according to safe, acceptable standards. Poor quality control could lead to inaccurate dosing or to contamination. Contaminants could make their way into natural product packages as microbes from poor plant processing, as misidentified plants, and even as pharmaceutical products either inadvertently contaminating products made using the same equipment as pharmaceuticals or from purposeful addition (adulteration) to substantiate claims of product efficacy. Indeed, contamination from pesticides and herbicides has been linked with cases of natural product toxicity. This may be especially true for imported products or products made from imported raw plant material.

One group of investigators published a study in 1994 examining 50 ginseng products sold in 11 countries at pharmacies or reputable stores for natural remedies. Each preparation was analyzed blind and in triplicate. In 44 of these preparations, the concentration of ginsenosides ranged from 1.9% to 9.0% (recommendations suggest at least 7.0% ginsenosides). Five products did not contain any ginsenosides, and one contained ephedrine instead.<sup>23</sup>

In a well-publicized example in 2002, Health Canada released a warning to avoid 7 herbal products manufactured in the United States, but popular among Canadians, because they contained undeclared prescription drugs including indomethacin, diethylstilbestrol, and alprazolam.<sup>24</sup> There is clearly a need for independent quality control of commercial herbal products. Currently, more than 500 commercial ginseng products sold throughout North America are being evaluated by the American Botanical Council's Ginseng Evaluation Program.<sup>25</sup>

### 6. Herbal safety

It is a common misconception to believe that natural products should generally be safe. However, such products may potentially pose three major issues (see Table 1).

As with the evidence to support efficacy claims, it is unclear how one may identify authoritative evidence on pre-marketing safety of natural products under the Natural Health Products Regulations. Nevertheless, the need to follow the GMPS can address some of the dangers of the lack of quality control outlined above. Also, safety is often assumed based on the generally low number of reported cases of adverse reactions on natural products. However, "no reported toxicity" does not mean evidence of "no toxicity." Even with conven-

### Table 1. Potential mechanisms of adverseresults from herbal medicines

Worsen an underlying condition	Interact with drugs	Cause toxicity
E.g., ginger being used as an antiemetic may affect diabetic control by causing hypoglycemia. <sup>46</sup>	E.g., St. John's wort can reduce the plasma level of the active metabolite of irinotecan, a chemotherapy agent. <sup>42</sup>	E.g., PC-Spes, once a popular herbal for- mulation for prostate health, contained estrogenic and warfarin-like contamin- ants <sup>24</sup> ; kava may cause liver damage. <sup>27</sup>

### Table 2. Examples of potential adverseevents with herbal products

aristolochic acid <sup>46</sup>	nephrotoxicity and uroepithelial cancers <sup>26</sup>
pyrrolizidine alkaloids	hepatotoxicity and carcinogenicity <sup>26</sup>
kava	hepatoxocitiy <sup>27</sup>
ginkgo	increased risk of bleeding <sup>28-33</sup>

tional drugs, the rate of post-marketing voluntary adverse reaction reporting is inherently low. Prior to the Natural Health Products Regulations, there was no mandated requirement to report adverse reactions if a natural product was marketed as a food. It is therefore noteworthy that documented cases of adverse reactions are reported even when the herbal product is prepared and used correctly. Over time, some herbal remedies have even been banned from sale in Canada and other parts of the world.

Like most drugs, herbal medicines have side effects. Most common are the "nuisance" side effects like nausea or diarrhea.<sup>34</sup> Some herbal products may cause photosensitivity reactions or dermatitis if patients come into contact with the raw plant material. Other side effects are natural extensions of the herb's pharmacologic action excessive somnolence from herbs used for sleep, for example. While a review of adverse reactions to herbal medicines is beyond the scope of this CE module, it is important for pharmacists to know that it is their responsibility to understand the possible risks of any natural product they sell. These

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

include some risks which may be theoretical but potentially serious. For example, one may need to discuss the possibility that some phytoestrogens may stimulate estrogen-dependent breast cancer and antagonize tamoxifen therapy.<sup>35-38,236,237</sup>

While the direct adverse effects of natural products may be predicted based on the pharmacodynamics of the herb, the indirect adverse effects cannot. Indirect adverse effects arise from how the herbal product is used rather than from the herbal product itself. Patients who inappropriately use a product or who use a natural product with marginal efficacy for a serious disorder when an alternative proven therapy exists put themselves at risk. These are realities that come with self-medication and the consumer's right to choose.

### 7. Drug-herb interactions

A drug interaction can be defined as any modification in the action of a drug caused by another exogenous chemical like another drug, herb, or food. Drug-herb interactions may be either pharmacokinetic (related to absorption, distribution, and metabolism) or pharmacodynamic (related to enhanced or diminished activity) in nature (see Table 1 above). While a detailed discussion of drug-herb interactions is not the goal of this CE module, it is important to introduce these concepts with a few examples.

#### 7.1 Pharmacokinetic interactions

Psyllium, flaxseed, and aloe contain large amounts of gums and mucilage that can prevent the absorption of a variety of drugs. Drugs such as lithium may not be properly absorbed when taken with psyllium.<sup>39</sup> Herbs like meadowsweet and willow contain salicylates that can displace drugs that are highly protein bound.

An interaction involving drug distribution is important because it can increase toxicity of protein-bound drugs such as warfarin and carbamazepine. There is a great deal of experimental data to suggest that a variety of herbs can affect the cytochrome p450 enzymes and thus lead to herb-drug interactions with drugs that rely on hepatic metabolism via the p450 enzymes. Herbal medicines that influence the cytochrome p450 system by inhibiting CYP 3A4 include goldenseal, cat's claw, St. John's wort, echinacea, chamomile, and licorice.<sup>40,238</sup> St. John's wort, for example, can interact with cyclosporine, indinavir,<sup>41</sup> warfarin,<sup>239</sup> and gliclazide,<sup>240</sup> as well as irinotecan, a commonly used intravenous cancer chemotherapy agent.<sup>42</sup>

#### 7.2 Pharmacodynamic interactions

Coumadin is one of the best-studied medicines in terms of the potential for drug-herb interactions. Since ginkgo has some anti-platelet properties, the risk of bleeding may be increased when ginkgo is used with coumadin.<sup>43</sup> Although not all experts and studies agree with this increased risk, caution may still be warranted until more controlled studies are conducted.<sup>241,242</sup> The opposite effect occurs with alfalfa, which contains vitamin K – the antidote for coumadin. There are many other possibilities such as combining sedating or stimulating herbs with CNS-sedating medications, herbs that can increase or decrease blood glucose with insulin or oral hypoglycemics, and herbs that affect blood pressure with antihypertensive drugs.

Reports of suspected herb-drug interactions are not made as often as of drug-drug interactions. Until more case reports and controlled studies appear in the literature that can help pharmacists counsel patients about potential risks of herbal medicines, pharmacists will need to understand the pharmacology of natural medicines to try to predict interactions. Furthermore, pharmacists should report any suspicion of herb-drug interactions so that this crucial information can be disseminated. Previously, there were no formal agencies officially collecting this data, although adverse reactions to natural products could be submitted. This now falls under the umbrella of the Natural Health Products Directorate, and official reporting forms are available. It is important that pharmacists report any suspected interactions, since they may be the only health professionals aware that the patients are taking these agents concurrently.

### 8. Information sources for botanical medicine

Until recently, individuals interested in learning more about botanical medicine have experienced a great deal of difficulty in obtaining quality information. Currently, information about botanical medicine comes from a variety of sources, which Farnsworth argues should all be assessed when making decisions about botanical medicines.<sup>44</sup> Some standard references include the following free access websites:

 National Center for Complementary and Alternative Medicine, National Institutes of Health, USA www.nccam.nih.gov

- Integrative Medicine Service at Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center
- www.mskcc.org/mskcc/html/11570.cfmMedline Plus Herbs and Supplements
- www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ druginformation.html
- MayoClinic Drugs & Supplements www.mayoclinic.com/health/drug-information/DrugHerbIndex
- M. D. Anderson Cancer Center's Complementary/Integrative Medicine Education Resources (CIMER)
  www.mdanderson.org/departments/CIMER/

www.mdanderson.org/departments/CIMER/

More information sources are outlined at the end of this lesson.

#### 8.1 General approach to advising patients

In general, the same approach to over-the-counter medicines can be used to advise these patients, beginning with a basic work-up of drug therapy. For herbal medicines, the pharmacist may also need to address the following areas<sup>3</sup>:

#### 1. Defining the role of the pharmacist

While not claiming specific expertise in the use of herbal medicine, the pharmacist may assess the available evidence on a particular herbal medicine and help the patients:

- make informed choices by providing objective information
- assess whether the product claims are credible
- weigh the possible benefits versus potential adverse effects
- devise a monitoring plan for efficacy and toxicity if patient wishes to try the product

Note that this differs from the usual role of the "drug expert," when the pharmacist is expected to recommend a drug of choice.

#### 2. Evaluation of evidence

Given the difficulty in keeping up to date with herbal medicine products, the pharmacist may use a single reliable resource on the current evidence (e.g., the Natural Medicines Comprehensive Database – see Information Sources for Botanical Medicine above). Many references now also provide a patient version of the monographs.

#### 3. Assessment of efficacy

Patients should be provided with an objective assessment of the available evidence. The efficacy of many herbal medicine products is based on evidence considered unproven by conventional standards. These data are often anecdotal, derived from preclinical and epidemiological studies, or pertaining to prevention rather than treatment. Until the recent introduction of the Natural Health Products Regulations, many products have been marketed without the need to provide substantiating evidence. Nevertheless, the pharmacist should appreciate that many patients may accept low levels of evidence because they have few options of standard treatments. It is important to keep an open mind to facilitate the discussion and to maintain the patient's hope for any potential benefit. It should be recognized that clearly defined mechanisms of action are not a necessary condition for a therapy to work - many things work without a satisfactory explanation. Moreover, herbal products may have poorly defined but active pharmacological effects (e.g., saw palmetto).

#### 4. Assessment of safety

The patient should be informed of any known or potential harmful effects and provided information (if available) from standard references. Many herbal medicine products have doubtful efficacy, so a low threshold should be set for acceptable potential adverse effects ("first, do no harm"). As with efficacy, until recently the manufacturers of many natural health products have not been required to provide substantiating safety data and/ or report adverse events. Hence, patients should be aware that absence of documented adverse effects may be a result of under-reporting rather than a lack of toxicity.

#### 5. Therapeutic trial

Patients wanting a trial of a natural health product should be helped to develop a therapeutic monitoring plan similar to other self-care therapies. This includes clearly defined therapeutic endpoints, trial duration, and information on how to recognize and manage any potential adverse effects. Patients should also notify other health professionals about the use of herbal medicine products, which may affect other conventional treatments.

#### 6. Closure

The motivation for patients to use natural health products is complex. Although most pharmacists have limited training in psychosocial counseling, it is worthwhile to explore the reasons behind the use of natural health products. Some of the general considerations include<sup>45</sup>:

- maintaining a sense of control
- misinformation about conventional treatment ("unnatural") and natural health products ("non-toxic, holistic")
- negative experience with conventional medicine

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

• emphasis on a close relationship between the body and the mind ("holistic")

In patients with serious illness (e.g., cancer), they may also feel the need to maintain hope that there may still be a cure or that more information is out there simply waiting to be discovered ("there's got to be something else").

The following 7 cases are designed to introduce some common herbs encountered in pharmacy practice. It is assumed that the usual patient work-up and therapeutic considerations would be carried out. These include, for example, verifying the proper use of prior conventional therapies and availability of conventional therapeutic options. The cases are structured in the following manner: introduction to the case; herbal monograph of relevant herb; and then a sample response to the clinical situation described in the case. It should be noted that conditions described in each case are not intended to be comprehensive reviews. Readers are encouraged to formulate their own response to the situation described in the introduction to the case as they read the herbal monograph and then to compare it with the sample response given. The responses outlined for each are examples only and are not meant to represent the only correct response to the case.

### 9. Case 1

Alice Gregory is a 27-year-old woman who is a regular customer. She is 2 months pregnant and comes in one day asking for something to help with her morning sickness. She has tried a number of agents and wonders if there is anything natural that she could use. She has tried ginger in the past and found that it successfully treated her motion sickness. She thinks it might help her now, but is afraid it might be harmful to her unborn child. She wants your advice.

- 1. Is there any evidence that ginger is effective for morning sickness?
- 2. Is ginger safe in pregnancy? If so, in what doses has it been shown to be safe?

#### 9.1 Herbal monograph: Ginger

#### (Zingiber officinale Roscoe, Zingiberaceæ)

Synonyms: zingiber, gan-jiang<sup>46,47</sup>

Active constituents: oleo-resin portion, notably gingerols, gingerdione, and shogaols (proportion of shogaols is significantly higher in dried than in fresh plant material)<sup>46,48</sup>

#### Standard doses:

• 2-4 g of dried powdered root or rhizome (or

equivalent) daily<sup>46,49</sup>

- 1 g of dried powdered root before travel (for motion sickness) or induction of anesthesia (for postoperative nausea and vomiting)
- Weak ginger tincture B.P. (1:5, 90% ethanol) 1.5–3 mL three times daily<sup>50</sup>
- Strong ginger tincture B.P. (1:2, 90% ethanol) 0.25–0.5 mL<sup>50</sup>
- Dried ginger 250 mg 4 times daily<sup>46,51</sup>
- Dried ginger 500 mg at the onset of migraine headache and repeated every 4 hours up to 1.5-2 grams per day for 3-4 days

Very few herbal remedies have a more important history than ginger. The rhizome (underground stem) of this perennial herb, native to Southeastern Asia, plays a key role in a number of traditional forms of medicine.<sup>48</sup> Its important culinary and medicinal uses have led to its cultivation throughout the world, especially in the Caribbean and Australia.<sup>52</sup> Traditionally, ginger products have been used for a variety of conditions, including dyspepsia/gastrointestinal upset and microbial infections, notably of the gastrointestinal tract, as an anti-inflammatory in the management of arthritic and musculoskeletal conditions, as a tonic for the cardiovascular system, and to treat nausea.<sup>47,48,53,54</sup>

#### Pharmacology

Findings of a number of studies indicate that ginger extracts have an inhibitory action on platelet aggregation.<sup>55,56</sup> Randomized trials in humans<sup>55,57</sup> suggest that this effect only occurs at doses of greater than 2 grams daily.<sup>57</sup> Agents found in the oleoresin portion have been shown to inhibit both cyclo-oxygenase and 5-lipoxygenase.<sup>58,59</sup> This influence on prostaglandin and leukotriene synthesis is thought to account for the anti-platelet aggregatory action.

The exact mechanism of action of ginger's antiemetic effects is unknown, but appears to be primarily due to a gastrointestinal action.<sup>60</sup> However, a centrally mediated mechanism has been noted at higher doses.<sup>61,62</sup> Originally, ginger's anti-emetic actions were thought to result from decreased gastric emptying rate. This theory has since been disproved.<sup>63,64</sup> One explanation that researchers are continuing to investigate is the possible antagonism of 5-HT<sub>3</sub> receptors found in parts of the brain and gastrointestinal tract.<sup>62,65,243</sup>

#### Human trials

While ginger has been used in a number of human trials for various conditions,<sup>53,58,66</sup> most interest has been focused on its use as an anti-emetic, especially in the management of motion sickness.<sup>53</sup> The clinical trials conducted to date have employed

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

a number of different designs with comparisons against not only placebo but also conventional pharmaceutical anti-emetics including scopolamine and dimenhydrinate.<sup>63,67-71</sup> While the results of most were promising,<sup>67,68,70,71</sup> a few well-designed studies failed to find any advantage in using ginger over either placebo or conventional pharmaceutical intervention.<sup>63,69</sup> Some possible reasons for these negative studies include insufficient dosage, possible use of poor-quality products, and the short duration of treatment.<sup>72,73</sup> It is important to note that a number of authoritative texts support the use of ginger in the prevention and management of motion sickness.<sup>49,74</sup>

Use of ginger in other types of nausea has also been investigated. In the case of nausea associated with anesthesia, a few clinical trials have noted that administration of dried ginger (0.5 g and 1 g respectively) before surgery decreased incidence of nausea and vomiting significantly more than placebo and comparably to metoclopromide.64,75,244,245 Unfortunately, this finding was not supported by other studies.<sup>76,246</sup> However, a recent meta-analysis based on 5 randomized trials and 363 patients concluded that a fixed dose of at least 1 g of ginger was more effective than placebo for the prevention of post-operative nausea and vomiting.<sup>247</sup> It is important to note that the trials included in this analysis used minimal amounts of anesthesia. Debate exists over whether the beneficial effects of ginger postoperatively are seen when given with opioid analgesia.

Research with respect to the use of ginger in the management of nausea and vomiting in pregnancy has been conducted in several controlled studies. A Danish double-blind, placebo-controlled trial found that dried ginger (250 mg 4 times daily) was (statistically) significantly better than placebo in the management of women suffering from hyperemesis gravidarum.<sup>77</sup> A subsequent study also found a beneficial effect of dried ginger for nausea in pregnancy.<sup>78</sup> Systematic review of these and other randomized controlled studies79-81 suggests that oral ginger may be more effective than placebo and probably similar to vitamin B<sub>6</sub> in reducing the severity of nausea and vomiting in some pregnant patients.<sup>82,83</sup> There were no significant side effects or bleeding risks, and the risk of major malformations in infants did not appear to be higher than the baseline rate.82,83

#### **Adverse effects**

Adverse effects from ginger appear to be rare and limited primarily to gastric burning and dyspepsia. These unwanted effects can be reduced by using encapsulated preparations and by not lying down soon after taking the product.

#### **Cautions/contraindications**

Given ginger's anticoagulant properties, concerns have been raised with regard to possible increased bleeding time after surgery. Also, given the herb's action on bile production, its use in cases of gallstones remains controversial.

The use of ginger in the management of morning sickness also remains controversial. While the clinical study identified above77,82,83 found no teratogenic effects or increased rate of abortion, other traditional sources (traditional Chinese medicine) suggest that ginger should be avoided during pregnancy. In addition, in vitro data suggest that in large doses gingerol (a constituent of ginger) has a mutagenic effect.<sup>84,85</sup> These concerns have been challenged by experts who argue that ginger is used within traditional Chinese medicine in far higher does than in Western schools of herbalism (approximately 9 g daily compared to 3 g daily). Also, ginger has been found to contain anti-mutagenic constituents as well as the mutagenic one noted above.<sup>86</sup> Ginger appears to have no spermatotoxic properties.87

#### **Drug interactions**

There has been one case of a report indicating that ginger augments the international normalized ratio (INR) when taken with phenprocoumon, an agent with similar pharmacological effects to warfarin.88 However, ginger was not shown to affect the pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics of warfarin in a small study of healthy subjects,<sup>242</sup> although the authors note that additional studies are needed in people who are taking anticoagulants. While no cases of ginger interacting with other conventional drugs could be found, it should be used with caution in situations of concurrent conventional cardiac, diabetic, anti-platelet, and anticoagulant therapy, or other herbal products with anticoagulant effects.<sup>89</sup> Because of its potential for increased bleeding, it is important to consider stopping ginger supplements before surgery.

#### Response

There is very little objective data assessing either the safety or the efficacy of herbal medicine therapy in cases of pregnancy.<sup>90</sup> The findings of a detailed literature review show there is only limited evidence for a small number of agents (ginger and vitamin B<sub>6</sub>) in the management of this indication.<sup>91</sup>

The fact that there is any classically derived clinical evidence supporting the use of ginger in morning sickness is a rare occurrence. This is because pregnancy is often a contraindication for clinical studies — including those evaluating natural products.

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

While there is an abundance of anecdotal evidence for the safety and efficacy of ginger in pregnancy, the best evidence-based data come from several clinical trials.<sup>82,83</sup> Based on these data, when given in doses no greater than 1 g per day, ginger is safe and may be effective for nausea associated with pregnancy. The dose of ginger should be 250 mg qid or less. Ms. Gregory should be cautioned about the potential of ginger to increase bleeding and interact with other anticoagulant agents (including other herbal products such as ginkgo), as well as the need to consider stopping it before surgery (including major dental procedures). If Ms. Gregory wants to take ginger, it is important that she inform other members of her primary health care team and keep to doses lower than that stated above.

### **10. Case 2**

Joan Chang is a perimenopausal 48-year-old woman who asks you about the use of natural progesterone cream. She has recently read in the newspaper that estrogen replacement therapy may be harmful and is wondering if there is an alternative that can be used to treat her hot flashes. She is unable to find the progesterone cream but has read in a magazine that "wild yam" cream was better since it is converted "in your body" to the actual human hormones. Is this the case and, if so, would eating yams have the same effect?

- 1. Is there evidence to support the use of wild yam in menopause?
- 2. Are wild yam and "natural progesterone" the same thing?
- 3. What "cream" is she likely talking about?

#### **10.1 Herbal monograph: Wild yam** (*Dioscorea villosa* L., Dioscoreaceæ)

Synonyms: colic root, rheumatism root<sup>92</sup>

- Active constituents: steroidal saponins (based on the sapogenin diosgenin) including dioscin and dioscorin<sup>92,93</sup>
- **Standard doses:** There is no typical established oral or topical dosage<sup>46</sup>; 2–4 mL of tincture (hydroalcoholic liquid preparation) taken 3 times daily has been used<sup>94</sup>

A number of members of the genus *Dioscorea* have been used medicinally. *Dioscorea villosa*, a perennial native to Eastern North America, is the one used most often by complementary practitioners.<sup>95</sup> The insipid-tasting fibrous root stock is the part used therapeutically. While the sweet potato (*Ipomœa batatas* (L.) Lam., Convolvulaceæ) is sometimes referred to as a yam, true vegetable yams (e.g., *Dioscorea alata* L.) are cultivated in the tropics and sold here mainly in ethnic grocery stores. Both of these vegetables possess nutritional value and are distinct from the medicinal wild yam.<sup>96</sup> Traditionally, wild yam was favored by the American eclectic physicians in the early part of the last century, where it was primarily used to treat diverticulitis, indigestion, and irritable bowel syndrome.<sup>94,95,97</sup> It was also used as an "anti-rheumatic" to treat joint inflammation and in the management of a number of gynecological problems such as dysmenor-rhea.<sup>94-96</sup>

#### Pharmacology

As yet, little is known about the pharmacological action of the herb itself. Evidence from some *in vitro* trials dating back to the 1920s supports this herb's purported anti-rheumatic, antispasmodic, and digestive properties.<sup>95,97</sup>

Some of the constituents, on the other hand, have an established medicinal role. Diosgenin can be converted *in vitro* to a number of hormonal agents (e.g., progesterone, dehydroepiandrosterone) and was originally used as a raw starting material in the manufacture of a number of drug agents such as oral contraceptives and drugs used in hormone replacement therapy.<sup>53</sup> While it has been suggested that this conversion can occur *in vivo*, the existing objective evidence does not support this claim.<sup>98,99</sup>

#### Human trials

The majority of evidence supporting the use of wild yam is folkloric and traditional in nature. In one double-blind, placebo-controlled, cross-over study, wild yam cream or placebo was applied to 23 healthy women with menopausal symptoms.<sup>100</sup> There was no difference in symptom control or significant side effect observed between wild yam and placebo. Therefore, it seems that topical wild yam, although probably safe, is likely to be ineffective for troublesome symptoms of menopause.

#### **Adverse effects**

Few details exist with regard to the exact composition of this product.

Adverse effects seem to be quite rare for the herb itself. Hormonal actions such as early menopause and masculinization of females have been attributed to one commercial product.<sup>101</sup> High doses of wild yam have been associated with nausea and vomiting.<sup>102</sup>

#### **Cautions/contraindications**

Given this herb's action on smooth muscle, wild yam should be avoided in pregnancy.<sup>53</sup> Cases

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

of occupational asthma have been attributed to members of the genus *Dioscorea*.<sup>103</sup> Theoretical contraindications include cases of obstruction, inflammation, or cancer of the bile duct or gall bladder due to the herb's choleretic effects, and cases of liver disease including hepatitis, cirrhosis, and cancer due to its stimulation of liver function.<sup>97</sup>

Most concerns are about products usually referred to as "Mexican wild yam" or "wild yam" that have a strong hormonal action and thus have the potential to affect conditions such as prostate cancer.<sup>101</sup> Exact details of the composition of these products are uncertain, and the relevance of these concerns to *Dioscorea villosa* is unknown.

#### **Drug interactions**

No cases of drug interactions with wild yam could be found.

#### Response

Natural progesterone products are legally available only as prescription drugs in Canada because they are identical to that found in humans.<sup>104</sup> Many such products have been synthesized from members of the genus Dioscorea and are sold as wild yam products (which is illegal).<sup>53</sup> Natural progesterone applied topically is very often used by complementary and alternative health care providers for menopause, especially the vasomotor flushes.<sup>105,106</sup> There is also interest in their use for osteoporosis.<sup>105,107-110</sup> The evidence supporting this use has been criticized as being incomplete and too often extrapolated from the findings of studies that investigated synthetic progestins.<sup>111</sup> Also, some "natural progesterone" creams were found to contain no progesterone.<sup>112</sup>

Ms. Chang should be told that there is no evidence to support the use of topical wild yam in the management of menopause, and any evidence supporting its oral use is folkloric and empirical. Also, the human body cannot convert wild yam (taken in any form) into progesterone. While there is some evidence to suggest that natural progesterone may help, she should consult with an appropriately trained health care provider with prescribing rights in Canada to discuss the matter.

### **11. Case 3**

John Smith, a 40-year-old regular customer, comes in one day requesting some information about valerian to help with anxiety and insomnia. He has been taking 15 mg of temazepam as required to help him get a good night's sleep for several months. Unfortunately, it makes him feel groggy in the morning. A friend recently told him that he got good results with valerian. John asks you if he could use the herb (valerian) with or instead of the drug (temazepam). What do you advise?

- 1. Is there evidence that valerian can help with insomnia or anxiety?
- 2. Are there risks of combining valerian with temazepam?
- 3. Are there risks to long-term use of valerian?

#### **11.1 Herbal monograph: Valerian**

### (*Valeriana officinalis* L. and other species of *Valeriana*, Valerianaceæ)

- **Synonyms:** Belgian valerian, common valerian, fragrant valerian, garden valerian<sup>46,113,114</sup>
- Active constituents: iridoids/valepotriates such as valerates, volatile oil components such as valer-inic acid<sup>53,115,116</sup>

#### Standard doses:

- 2-3 g of root or rhizome orally three times daily or at bedtime
- 1-3 mL of tincture three times daily<sup>117</sup>
- Studies in the sleep literature have used valerian extract in doses of 400–900 mg

Valerian species have been used extensively within a number of healing traditions. The pungent, and somewhat malodorous, root is considered to have sedative-hypnotic qualities and is used in cases of insomnia and various nervous conditions. It is also purported to have a muscle-relaxing action and is often used in the management of conditions of the musculoskeletal system.<sup>53,114</sup>

#### Activity on the central nervous system

Constituents of valerian appear to have an affinity for a number of receptors found in the central nervous system, most notably  $5-HT_{1A}$  and the GABA neurotransmitter system.<sup>117-119</sup> Evidence regarding the affinity of agents found in valerian for the GABA<sub>A</sub> (benzodiazepine) receptor is conflicting.<sup>53</sup> While the action of valerian is unlikely to be due to a single constituent or group of constituents, most attention has been focused on the presence of GABA itself. While water extracts of valerian appear to contain sufficient amounts of GABA to account for the release of GABA from synaptosomes and the inhibition of the GABA re-uptake which has been reported, GABA does not cross the blood-brain barrier following oral administration, making this proposed mechanism of action highly unlikely.<sup>120,121</sup> Valerenic acid, a constituent of valerian, seems to inhibit central GABA catabolism and thus increases central nervous system GABA levels.<sup>122</sup> Other agents in the herb, notably some of the sesquiterpenoids present, may inhibit catabolism of GABA in the periphery.<sup>123</sup>

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

#### **Animal studies**

Sedative properties have been demonstrated in a number of animal studies.<sup>53</sup> While these are not conclusive, valerian extracts have been shown to produce changes in behavioural tests and possibly to exert anticonvulsive effects.<sup>53,117</sup> Augmentation of barbiturate-induced sleep similar to changes seen following benzodiazepine administration has also been documented.<sup>124-126</sup> Agents found in valerian have potential antidepressant activity.<sup>53</sup>

#### Human trials

Some evidence exists to support the use of valerian as a hypnotic agent. Various extracts of valerian have been shown to improve sleep quality, decrease the latency of sleep onset, and improve a number of subjective measures of sleep. 53,113,127-129,130-<sup>134</sup> A hypnotic action similar to that of triazolam 0.125 mg has been reported for a combination product containing valerian (160 mg per tablet) and lemon balm (80 mg per tablet).<sup>135</sup> Valerian extract (300 mg) in three divided daily doses also seems to improve the quality of sleep in insomniacs recently withdrawn from benzodiazepines.<sup>132</sup> It may need continuous daily use at night (from several days to four weeks) to achieve therapeutic effect.<sup>130,131</sup> Despite the positive findings of individual studies, a recent meta-analysis concluded that although valerian might improve sleep quality, there were significant methodological problems with most studies. The authors suggested that future research should assess various doses, use standardized preparations, and use standard measures for efficacy and safety.<sup>249</sup> In addition, authors of a systematic review of valerian used for sleep concluded that valerian is safe, but that the current evidence does not support the use of valerian for reducing general sleep disturbances or insomnia. The authors recommended that further studies are needed to adequately evaluate the usefulness of valerian with particular attention to the source of valerian, the form of valerian, doses, and patient samples.<sup>250</sup>

Subjective anxiolytic effects have also been noted under experimental conditions,<sup>136</sup> but currently there is not enough evidence to support the use of valerian for anxiety.<sup>251,252</sup>

#### **Adverse effects**

One study using a combination product (valerian and lemon balm) did not note any decrease in concentration or daytime sedation.<sup>135</sup> However, the pharmacology of valerian suggests that drowsiness is possible.

Valerian has an unpleasant taste and odour, which can well effect patient compliance.

#### **Cautions/contraindications**

Valerian should be used with caution in pregnancy, lactating women, and children under 3 years of age.<sup>49,117</sup> If valerian does cause sedation, it does not appear to influence normal mental and physical functioning during the day. Morning hangover effects also appear not to be a problem.<sup>117,137</sup>

#### **Drug interactions**

While evidence exists on only one case of minor drug interaction with alprazolam,<sup>130</sup> the potential exists for valerian to interact with other centrally acting agents such as conventional anxiolytics, antidepressants, and other drugs with sedative effects, including some analgesics, anesthetics, antiemetics, antiepileptics, alpha-blockers, and beta-blockers.<sup>46,138</sup> Studies using the combination product (lemon balm/valerian) identified above reported no potentiation of action when used in conjunction with alcohol.<sup>135</sup> Preliminary evidence suggests that valerian may inhibit cytochrome p450 3A4, so patients and clinicians should look out for, and report, any suspected interactions with other p450 3A4-metabolized drugs.<sup>139,253</sup>

#### Response

Although it appears that valerian may have some potential use as a sleep aid, the evidence is not yet conclusive. Further studies are needed to confirm the effect of valerian on improving sleep quality. The evidence supporting its use in cases of anxiety is even less clear. A problem faced here is the perception that natural remedies are safe and can be taken with conventional drugs. While only one case of drug interaction with alprazolam of minor clinical significance has been documented,<sup>130</sup> one should not infer that valerian can be taken safely with other conventional centrally acting medications. Also, there is insufficient quality evidence comparing valerian to conventional pharmacotherapy to suggest that they have comparable efficacy. It is also important to note that even though Mr. Smith only takes the temazepam on a prn basis, it should not be stopped suddenly or without consulting with his physician.

If Mr. Smith still wishes to stop his temazepam, he should be referred to his family physician so that he can stop his conventional medication in a controlled fashion. Unlike temazepam, valerian is not intended as a prn solution – some valerian supporters feel that it can take from 4 days to 4 weeks to attain the full therapeutic effect of valerian. Although there is only one known case report of a valerian withdrawal reaction,<sup>153</sup> patients should not stop using high doses of valerian suddenly after long periods of use. Despite the similarities to

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

benzodiazepines, patients who use valerian often report less morning grogginess, but this has not been verified in clinical trials. Knowing the evidence, if Mr. Smith decides to try valerian, suggest that he take his initial doses at a time when he is unlikely to need to be alert — such as days he is not at work or driving. This would allow him to safely assess the effects of valerian.

### **12. Case 4**

Jean Hébert is a 35-year-old man. He explains to you that he is under a lot of stress at work at the moment and that this is making him edgy and he is having difficulty sleeping. In addition, he has developed a duodenal ulcer, which is being managed by conventional means. A colleague at work has suggested that chamomile tea can help with his ulcer and sleeping problem. He wants your advice before taking it. He tells you that he regularly takes antihistamines for seasonal allergies. How do you respond?

- 1. Is there any evidence that chamomile can help his stress or ulcer?
- 2. How is his history of seasonal allergies important to your discussion about chamomile?

#### **12.1 Herbal monograph: German chamomile** (*Matricaria recutita* L., Asteraceæ [also known as Compositæ])

- **Synonyms:** *Matricaria chamomilla* L., single chamomile, pinheads, matricaria<sup>52,53,140</sup>
- Active constituents: Terpenoids (including azulene, chamazulene, and α-bisabolol), flavonoids (including apigenin, quercetin, and rutin), coumarins, spiroethers, tannins, and polysaccharides<sup>46,53,141</sup>

#### Standard oral dose:

- 2-4 g of dried flower heads three times daily normally taken as a "herbal tea"<sup>50</sup>
- May also be used as 1–4 mL of 1:1 extract; 45% alcohol<sup>46</sup>

While often relegated to the status of a beverage in North America, this fragrant annual is highly prized in many parts of Europe for its medicinal properties.<sup>54,140</sup> It is native to much of Western Europe, but most commercial crops are now grown in the Balkans and parts of South America.<sup>52</sup> The flowers, preferably picked a few days before blooming, are the parts used medicinally.<sup>53</sup>

In many parts of the world, German chamomile is considered to have panacea-like properties and is used for so many conditions that it is often called confusingly "European ginseng."<sup>140</sup> German chamomile is usually taken orally as a herbal tea and is used typically for digestive upset, nervous tension, and insomnia and as an antispasmodic.<sup>53</sup> It seems particularly suited to conditions associated with stress or emotional tension. High-quality commercial topical products are also available and are used in a number of skin conditions such as eczema and minor abrasions.<sup>53</sup>

German chamomile is one of two kinds of chamomile used medicinally, the other being Roman or English chamomile (*Chamæmelum nobile* (L.) All., Asteraceæ).<sup>142</sup>

#### Pharmacology

Like most herbal medicines, German chamomile contains a number of medicinally active constituents. While most interest has been focused on the volatile oil portion, certain other constituents (such as the polysaccharides) have also been shown to have medicinal properties too.<sup>53,141</sup>

Many constituents found in the volatile oil portion, notably the azulene components such as chamazulene and its precursor matricin, spiroethers, and  $\alpha$ -bisabolol, as well as the polysaccharides, exert an anti-inflammatory action.<sup>140,141,143-147</sup> This anti-inflammatory action may be due in part to an inhibition of leukotriene synthesis.<sup>148</sup> Powerful antispasmodic properties have also been demonstrated in animal and *in vitro* studies for the whole volatile oil fraction as well as the spiroethers and  $\alpha$ -bisabolol, in addition to the polysaccharide fraction.<sup>53,140,141,149</sup> The antispasmodic action may be mediated through inhibition of cAMP phosphodiesterase.<sup>254</sup>

The  $\alpha$ -bisabolol present has also been shown to prevent the formation of gastric ulcers in a number of experimental animal models.<sup>53,150</sup> Hepatoprotective, antioxidant, and anti-allergenic actions have also been identified.<sup>53</sup>

Findings of recent animal studies suggest that apigenin present in extracts of the flower has an affinity for the same receptors as benzodiazepines. This could be the mechanism of action of this herb's reputed anxiolytic and hypnotic properties.<sup>151</sup> The polysaccharide fraction also appears to have an anti-histaminic action.<sup>152</sup> Reports that German chamomile's tranquilizing effect could be due to the presence of tryptophan have yet to be confirmed by objective evidence.<sup>140</sup>

#### **Clinical trials**

Given German chamomile's widespread use, it is surprising to find relatively few clinical studies investigating this herb. A number of clinical trials have evaluated specific commercial extracts of German chamomile as an adjunct to conventional agents in the management of a number of skin conditions, including stasis ulcers and wound care, with mixed results.<sup>140,153,154</sup>

There is some evidence that German chamomile, as part of a combination product (Iberogast, Enzymatic Therapy), may be more effective than placebo when taken as 1 mL three times daily over a 4-week period in improving dyspeptic symptoms (e.g., acid reflux, epigastric pain, cramping, nausea, vomiting). Other ingredients contained in this product include peppermint leaf, clown's mustard plant, caraway, licorice, milk thistle, celandine, angelica, and lemon balm.<sup>156,157</sup>

Results from an uncontrolled trial investigating the use of German chamomile mouthwash showed that its use could decrease stomatitis resulting from conventional chemotherapy.<sup>158</sup> These promising findings were not supported by a later, more sophisticated trial that reported that German chamomile mouthwash was no better than placebo in decreasing stomatitis caused by 5-fluorouracil.<sup>159</sup>

While German chamomile has been seen to have a sedative action when given during surgical procedures,<sup>140</sup> no controlled trials published in English investigating these reputed properties could be found.<sup>53</sup>

#### **Adverse effects**

Cases of adverse effects associated with German chamomile are exceedingly rare, with vomiting being noted when given in high doses.<sup>53,54</sup> However, a number of cases of allergic reactions, including situations of anaphylaxis, have been noted.<sup>53,160-163</sup> The sesquiterpene lactones present in German chamomile seem most likely to be responsible.<sup>164,165</sup> However, is important to note that many of these cases have occurred amongst people who come into frequent contact with the fresh herb, such as florists and horticulturalists.<sup>162,166</sup> Thus, the clinical significance of the medicinal use of German chamomile is unknown.<sup>53</sup>

Another complicating factor is that German chamomile products are often of low quality, and it has been suggested that adulterating agents may be responsible for the majority of reported allergic responses. One of the main culprits is stinking dog fennel (*Anthemis cotula* L., Asteraceæ). It is important to note that only in a minority of cases of alleged allergic reaction to German chamomile was the plant itself authenticated.<sup>54,141,164</sup>

#### **Cautions/contraindications**

Cross-sensitivity between different members of the sunflower (Asteraceæ) family has been noted and so it would seem prudent that people allergic to members of this family (e.g., ragweed, asters, chrysanthemums) avoid German chamomile products.<sup>53,164,166,167</sup> Given the fact that resorption of fetuses and reduction of birth weight was noted in rats given German chamomile and that historically the herb is reputed to have emmenagogue properties, German chamomile should be used with caution in pregnancy.<sup>168-170</sup>

Given the potential for sensitizing newborns, German chamomile should be used with caution in lactation.<sup>53</sup>

#### **Drug interactions**

Despite in vitro data that chamomile may interact with drugs metabolized via cytochrome p450 3A4,<sup>139</sup> no documented cases could be found of interactions between German chamomile and conventional drug therapy. Given the herb's potential action on the central nervous system, high doses should be avoided with conventional drug agents as anxiolytics and antidepressants. In vitro, chamomile has been shown statistically to inhibit platelet activity. Although these findings have yet to be confirmed in vivo, Chamomile could theoretically interact with medications that affect platelets and clotting (e.g., acetylsalicylic acid, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, warfarin).<sup>153</sup> Until clinical studies confirm or negate these effects, pharmacists should advise patients of the potential interaction, tell patients to watch for signs of bleeding and, if necessary, recommend additional monitoring by their physicians.

#### Response

Despite a significant amount of empirical and experimental evidence supporting the use of German chamomile, there have been only a limited number of conventional human trials supporting the use of German chamomile in cases of stress and stomach ulcers.<sup>156,157</sup> In addition, none of these trials compared German chamomile on its own or with conventional pharmacotherapy for duodenal ulcers. The latter is particularly important given the effectiveness of many current treatments for this condition, including eradication of any Helicobacter pylori infection. Therefore, after careful explanation of the type of evidence available to Mr. Hebert, this herb could be recommended. While adverse effects appear to be unlikely, his seasonal allergies complicate matters, especially if it is found that some of the plant pollens he is allergic to are from the Asteraceæ family. Even though the chance of an allergic reaction to German chamomile is slight, it is important to counsel Mr. Hebert appropriately. If anaphylaxis has occurred in the past, Mr. Hebert should be advised not to take this herb. It would be useful to note on Mr. Hebert's file if he does take this herb, since the potential exists for an interaction with some conventional centrally acting drugs.

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

### 13. Case 5

Mrs. Kaprovsky is a 49-year-old client of yours. She is entering perimenopause and is suffering from night sweats and irritability. Her doctor has confirmed that these "symptoms" are due to perimenopause. Her neighbour has been taking evening primrose oil (EPO) for her "moodiness" around menstruation and has suggested that Mrs. Kapovsky take some. Mrs. Kaprovsky wants to know your opinion before buying this product. When she sees how much she needs to take and the price of the supplement, she begins to have second thoughts. Does she need to take that much? She also asks if she can take flaxseed oil (a source of omega-3 fatty acids) instead. In fact, she has heard that fish oil is good for your health as well and asks if she could take cod liver oil instead. What is your response?

- 1. Is there evidence that evening primrose oil (EPO) is helpful in menopause?
- 2. Are the sources of omega-3 fatty acids that she mentioned similar in safety and efficacy?

#### **13.1 Herbal monograph: Evening primrose** (*Œnothera biennis* L., Onagraceæ)

Active constituents: fatty acids found in the fixed oil, notably cis-linoleic acid, cis-gamma linolenic acid, oleic acid, palmitic acid and stearic acid<sup>52,171</sup> Standard doses: Adults: 2–8 grams daily in div-

ided doses46,172

It is important to note that evening primrose oil supplements contain vitamin E as a pharmaceutical antioxidant and not necessarily as a therapeutic supplement.<sup>53</sup>

The first thing to realize is that evening primrose is not actually a primrose but rather a member of the fuchsia family. It is named evening primrose because the large yellow flowers open in the evening to allow pollination by insects, notably moths. While historically the whole plant (including the root) was used for both medicinal and culinary purposes, most attention now is focused on the fixed oil of the seeds. Evening primrose was one of the first natural health products to gain popularity in the developed world in the '70s and '80s.<sup>52,171</sup>

#### Pharmacology

The key to the medicinal action of evening primrose oil (EPO) is that it offers a rich source of gamma linolenic acid (GLA). Before describing this action in detail, it is important to review the basic points of essential fatty acid (EFA) biochemistry and nomenclature. The word "essential" refers to the fact that the body cannot manufacture these fatty acids and so must receive them from the diet. There are two basic types that will be discussed here, omega-3 (derived from alpha-linolenic acid) and omega-6 (derived from linoleic acid). Both types are polyunsaturated and so contain more than one double bond. The numbers refer to the number of carbon atoms the first double carbon-to-carbon bond is from the methyl end of the molecule.<sup>53</sup>

While these two types of EFA are not interchangeable, they do act as precursors to a number of biologically active moieties, including prostaglandins and leukotrienes. In addition, the EFAs and their metabolites play an important role in cellmembrane-based receptors, systems, and structure. The important constituent in evening primrose oil is gamma-linolenic acid (GLA), an omega-6 fatty acid. While GLA is not considered an essential fatty acid, since it is manufactured *in vivo* from linoleic acid, it has been suggested that the biosynthesis of GLA is inhibited in certain situations. The activity of the enzyme involved in this process, delta-6desaturase, is thought to be affected in a number of conditions, including certain nutritional deficiencies (zinc, pyridoxine, and magnesium), diabetes, atopic eczema, aging, and viral infections.53

In simplified terms, it is argued that supplying preformed GLA will overcome this barrier and stimulate production of the beneficial members of the prostaglandin 1 series (notably PGE1). More detailed reviews of this exact process exist in other texts. For this lesson, it is important to realize that this premise for the medicinal effectiveness of evening primrose oil is not universally accepted.<sup>53</sup>

#### **Clinical trials**

Evening primrose oil is one of the most investigated natural health products on the market. Unfortunately, few definitive conclusions have been reached. Also, many studies used products combined with omega-3 fatty acids (marine fish oil), thus limiting the assumptions that could be made about EPO itself.<sup>53</sup>

#### Women's health care

Results from a number of trials support the use of EPO in cases of premenstrual syndrome.<sup>172-176</sup> However, in a recent review article, Budeiri et al. concluded that there was insufficient evidence from the existing literature to support this indication.<sup>177</sup> The short duration of some of the positive trials may have played a role in this conclusion.<sup>53</sup> When combined with omega-3 fatty acids, EPO has been shown to be beneficial in the treatment of endometriosis.<sup>172</sup>

Using EPO for mastalgia is an attractive option since EPO supplementation lacks the adverse

effects commonly associated with conventional pharmacotherapy (e.g., bromocriptine, tamoxifen, danazol).<sup>179,183,256</sup> A number of open and placebocontrolled trials support the use of EPO in cases of mastalgia.<sup>178-182</sup>, but some of these trials had serious methodological problems (such as being openlabel, not double-blinded) or were not published in peer-reviewed journals. Also, other placebo-controlled, randomized, double-blind studies have not shown EPO to improve cyclic mastalgia,<sup>256-259</sup> and a recent meta-analysis concluded that EPO did not improve pain scores compared to placebo.<sup>260</sup> The Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada's practice guidelines for mastalgia concluded that there was not enough evidence to support the use of EPO for mastalgia.256

While EPO is frequently used in the management of menopause, the little evidence that exists – dated back to 1994 – did not show EPO to be better than placebo.<sup>184</sup> While significant amounts of research have been performed using EPO supplementation, many authors comment that there is still a lack of rigorous clinical trials.<sup>185,261-263</sup>

#### **Adverse effects**

EPO appears to be very safe, with adverse effects limited to nausea, headache, and diarrhea. The nausea and diarrhea are reduced if EPO is taken with meals. It appears to have no carcinogenic properties.<sup>53</sup>

#### **Cautions/contraindications**

If given at normal therapeutic doses of less than 4 g per day, EPO supplementation is unlikely to cause problems in pregnancy.<sup>90</sup> Although the clinical impact associated with ingesting EPO during lactation is not known, maternal dietary supplementation with EPO has been documented to effect the composition of the breast milk.<sup>53</sup>

EPO may theoretically exacerbate cases of mania and should also be used with caution in some epileptic patients (see below).<sup>46,186,187</sup>

#### **Drug interactions**

Few cases of interactions between EPO and conventional drug therapy have been published. Theoretically, drugs affecting prostaglandin metabolism such as NSAIDs and corticosteroids will likely be enhanced by EPO. EPO should be used with caution in patients taking anticoagulant therapy.<sup>53</sup>

An increase in epileptic episodes was noted in schizophrenic patients taking phenothiazines when compared to placebo.<sup>188</sup> The schizophrenic patients in that report were taking EPO along with phenothiazines.

#### Response

Given the high daily dose and price of EPO supplements, inquiries occur quite frequently in community pharmacies. First, it is important to explain to Mrs. Kaprovsky that while there is some evidence to support the use of EPO in premenstrual syndrome, it is lacking in cases of menopause. So, EPO may not be the best course of action. If she does decide to purchase a supply, she should take it at the recommended dose of 4 grams daily. In addition, while flaxseed oil is significantly cheaper and has some benefits of its own, it is not interchangeable with EPO and does not contain appreciable amounts of GLA. Her question regarding cod liver oil is of more concern. While fish oil is rich in omega-3 fatty acids, it is distinct from EPO. Also, fish oil rich in these EFAs is not the same as cod liver oil and dosing may vary considerably.

### 14. Case 6

Mr. Black is a 56-year-old man who suffers from rheumatoid arthritis. His condition is currently controlled with 10 mg of prednisone daily. His chief concern is pronounced fatigue and lethargy. He is currently seeing a herbal practitioner who has suggested that he take a licorice product called DGL, which should help increase "his energy." He has now taken this product for 6 weeks and has not noticed any improvement. Recently he told his family physician about this and was advised to stop the licorice immediately since it can increase blood pressure and will interact with his medication. He is confused, since his holistic practitioner said the opposite – that DGL cannot interact with his medications or increase blood pressure. What do you advise?

- 1. Do licorice and DGL have different effects on blood pressure?
- 2. Will DGL help him with his fatigue?

#### 14.1 Herbal monograph: Licorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra* L., Fabaceæ)

- **Synonyms:** liquorice, glycyrrhiza, sweetwood, liquiritiæ<sup>72,189,190</sup>
- Active constituents: terpenoids (including glycyrrhizin, which yields glycyrrhetinic acid on hydrolysis), flavonoids, coumarins, and volatile oil<sup>46,53,189</sup>

#### Standard dosage:

- 5–15 g of the root, equivalent to 200–600 mg of glycyrrhizin daily<sup>49</sup>
- DGL tablets 380–1140 mg three times daily<sup>191</sup>
- Licorice products should not be taken for more than 6 weeks at a time<sup>49</sup>

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

Licorice has long been used within many healing traditions for its reputed medicinal properties. While *Glycyrrhiza glabra* L. is the species used within Western herbalism, another member of the genus, *Glycyrrhiza uralensis* Fisch. ex DC., is primarily used within traditional Asian healing models.<sup>53</sup> It has been used as an expectorant and antitussive in conditions of the upper respiratory tract, as a laxative, in cases of inflammation, and in gastric and duodenal ulcers.<sup>52</sup> It is also used as a tonic herb in cases of fatigue, since it is thought to strengthen adrenal function. The parts used medicinally are the roots and underground stems (rhizomes).<sup>53</sup>

Licorice is often used by herbal practitioners not as a pharmacological agent but as a sweetening agent to mask more unpleasant-tasting constituents in herbal formulae.<sup>53</sup> Glycyrrhizin is up to 100% sweeter than sucrose. While licorice candies are a popular confection, they generally contain little or no licorice (they are often flavoured with lessexpensive anise seed oil) and therefore have few medicinal properties.<sup>53,192</sup>

#### Pharmacology

Unlike most herbal medicines, the pharmacology of licorice has been extensively studied. 53,189,193,194 While many constituents have been shown to have pharmacological actions, most attention has been paid to the terpenoid portion, notably glycyrrhizin and its aglycone glycyrrhetic acid. Glycyrrhizin has been shown to inhibit a number of enzymes involved in the metabolism of certain prostaglandins.53 It has also been shown to affect endogenous steroid metabolism in many ways. Glycyrrhizin and glycyrrhetinic acid inhibit 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (the enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of cortisol to inactive cortisone), bind weakly to both mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptors, and influence aldosterone secretion and elimination.53,72,193,195 Because of these actions, hypertension can possibly occur or be exacerbated. In addition, glycyrrhizin has been shown to suppress plasma renin activity and decrease angiotensin levels and anti-diuretic hormone levels.53,194

Due to the action of its constituents on cortisol and prostaglandin metabolism, it is not surprising to find that licorice has been shown to have anti-inflammatory properties.<sup>53</sup> The mechanism of action appears to be more complex than this, with glycyrrhetinic acid being shown to inhibit the classical complement cascade and glycyrrhizin selectively inhibiting the anti-inflammatory influence of thrombin.<sup>196,197</sup>

#### Human trials

While licorice has been the centre of much interest, few clinical trials have actually investigated the use of the herb itself. Most interest has been focused on the terpenoid constituents and commercial derivatives.<sup>53</sup>

Two commercial derivatives used primarily in the management of gastrointestinal conditions have been the most well studied. Carbenoxolone is a synthetic derivative of glycyrrhetinic acid used in the management of peptic ulcer disease. While an exact mechanism of action is not known, it is thought to exert its action by increasing synthesis and secretion of protective mucus.<sup>189</sup> A number of double-blind, placebo-controlled trials have demonstrated that carbenoxolone is more effective than placebo. Its use is now limited due to its associated adverse effects, including water retention and hypertension.<sup>46,189</sup>

The other primary commercial product is deglycyrrhizinated licorice (DGL), which was developed in order to address concerns raised about the adverse effects of carbenoxolone. DGL has little effect on blood pressure or adrenal function, since it has less than 3% glycyrrhizin content.<sup>53,189</sup> Most clinical studies have assessed two commercial brands of DGL. A number of controlled clinical trials of various designs have shown that DGL is superior to placebo and comparable to conventional pharmacotherapy (antacids or cimetidine) in the management of both gastric and duodenal ulcers.53,198-201 There is also some evidence that licorice, as part of a combination product (Iberogast, Enzymatic Therapy), may be more effective than placebo when taken as 1 mL three times daily over a 4-week period in improving dyspeptic symptoms (e.g., acid reflux, epigastric pain, cramping, nausea, vomiting). Other ingredients contained in this product include peppermint leaf, clown's mustard plant, caraway, German chamomile, milk thistle, celandine, angelica, and lemon balm.<sup>156,157</sup>

#### **Adverse effects**

In small doses, licorice is generally considered to be relatively safe. In doses greater than 20 g, concerns arise, most notably from the mineralocorticoid action of the terpenoids.<sup>202</sup> Adverse effects include hypokalemia, headache, lethargy, sodium and water retention, and hypertension.<sup>49,53</sup> In the case of hypertension, there appears to be a dose-response relationship between the amount of licorice taken and the rise in blood pressure.<sup>203</sup> This collection of adverse effects is commonly referred to as pseudoaldosteronism. The low serum potassium can potentially result in cardiac arrhythmias and ECG abnormalities.<sup>202</sup> Situations of amenorrhea and hyperprolactinemia have also been described

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

due to the partial-agonist, antagonist effects of licorice on estrogen.<sup>204,205</sup> Licorice can also decrease serum testosterone and increase 17-hydroxyprogesterone. This may lead to reduced libido or sexual dysfunction in males.<sup>206</sup>

While fatalities have been reported following ingestion of licorice products, the clinical relevance of these cases to the use of licorice in herbal practice is unknown. This is due to the fact that most of these cases occurred following the ingestion of very large amounts of licorice normally taken in the form of candy.<sup>53,207</sup> One case of congestive heart failure occurred in a 53-year-old man who ate 700 g of licorice candy over an 8-day period.<sup>208</sup>

Since DGL contains such small amounts of glycyrrhizin, it is not associated with pseudoaldosteronism.<sup>53</sup>

#### **Cautions/contraindications**

Licorice should be used with caution in patients with high blood pressure, cardiovascular disease (particularly congestive heart failure), renal failure, or liver disease. Licorice should also be used with caution in pregnancy.<sup>53</sup>

#### **Drug interactions**

Licorice products should be used with caution in patients taking medication that can affect or depends on potassium levels, such as digoxin and diuretics.<sup>49</sup> This herb may also interfere with hormonal or hypoglycemic therapy.<sup>46</sup> Given that glycyrrhetinic acid decreases the metabolism of corticosteroids, it should be used with caution in patients taking agents such as prednisone.<sup>53,209-211</sup> DGL has been seen to increase the bioavailability of nitrofurantoin as well as to decrease the nausea often seen with this drug.<sup>53</sup> Grapefruit juice may enhance the mineralocorticoid activity of licorice.<sup>212</sup> As for many other herbal products, early laboratory information suggests that licorice can inhibit CYP450 3A4.<sup>139</sup>

#### Response

There are a number of things to bear in mind. Firstly, while fatigue may appear an insignificant symptom, it is important that Mr. Black determine its cause to rule out any more serious medical condition. Secondly, both his physician and herbal practitioner are partially correct. While licorice can result in hypertension and react with corticosteroids such as prednisone, DGL is unlikely to do so since it contains only small amounts of glycyrrhizin. Having said this, since DGL contains only small amounts of glycyrrhizin, it does not influence adrenal function and thus is unlikely to be of help in fatigue. To conclude, while DGL is unlikely to cause a problem, there is no evidence to support its use in this case.

### 15. Case 7

Mrs. Jones is a 52-year-old patient with a history of alcoholism. She also suffers from chronic migraines that are currently managed adequately with an acetaminophen/narcotic medication. Her naturopathic practitioner has recommended that she take a standardized milk-thistle product containing at least 70% silymarin. While she has confidence in her practitioner, the product that has been suggested is expensive and Mrs. Jones is wondering if she can use another kind of the herb. She has been looking at a herbal tea containing milk thistle that is almost half the price.

- 1. Can she replace one dosage form with the other?
- 2. What kind of evidence exists to support the use of this herb in patients taking acetaminophen?

#### 15.1 Herbal monograph: Milk thistle (Silybum marianum (L.) Gaertn., Asteraceæ)

- **Synonyms:** Mary thistle, St. Mary's thistle, Marian thistle, Lady's thistle, Holy thistle, Carduus marianus L.<sup>213</sup>
- Active constituents: silymarin (a flavonolignan complex composed of silybin, silydianin, and silychristin)<sup>52,213,214</sup>
- **Standard dose:** Milk thistle is poorly soluble in water, thus limiting the medicinal effectiveness of teas and infusions<sup>53</sup>
- 200 mg of a standardized extract (70% silymarin) three times daily<sup>215</sup>
- A milk thistle extract containing 70–80% silymarin (Legalon), 420 mg orally daily for hepatic cirrhosis<sup>46</sup>
- A milk thistle constituent, silibinin (Silibide), 240 mg twice daily for chronic hepatitis<sup>46</sup>

Milk thistle is a spiny leafed plant that is native to Europe. The white mottled appearance of the leaves was thought to have been caused by a drop of the Virgin Mary's milk, hence the specific epithet *marianum*. This folklore gave rise to the plant's use as a galactagogue (promoter of lactation).<sup>213</sup> Milk thistle is often confused with another member of the sunflower (Asteraceæ) family, blessed thistle (*Cnicus benedictus* L.). While they are both used as galactagogues, they are very different plants.<sup>53</sup> While milk thistle does have some historical uses, current uses are primarily supported by more recent scientific evaluations. The ripe seeds are the part used medicinally.

#### Pharmacology

The vast majority of interest has been focused on the actions of silymarin as a hepatoprotective agent. Silymarin is thought to work via three primary mechanisms of action: to stimulate cell development and regeneration by increasing synthesis of ribosome protein,<sup>214,216,217</sup> to competitively antagonize the action of certain hepatotoxic agents,<sup>214</sup> and to act as a powerful antioxidant decreasing cell destruction.<sup>53,218</sup> It has also been suggested that silymarin may decrease the production of potentially harmful leukotrienes,<sup>219</sup> inhibit neutrophil function,<sup>220</sup> and influence Kupffer cell (large macrophage) functions.<sup>221</sup>

#### **Clinical trials/animal studies**

A number of animal studies have demonstrated an ability of milk thistle products to protect the liver against a variety of toxins, including alphaamanitin and phalloidin from the deathcap mushroom (Amanita phalloides Fr., Pluteaceæ), carbon tetrachloride, DL-ethionine, thioacetamide, and acetaminophen.<sup>214,222-226</sup> One double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of patients with hepatotoxicty resulting from neuroleptic medications found a decrease in serum levels of malondialdehyde (MDA).<sup>227</sup> Preliminary clinical research based on three double-blind, placebo controlled trials demonstrated improvement in alcohol-induced liver damage.<sup>214,228,229</sup> In addition, oral administration of a milk thistle extract standardized to silymarin to patients with cirrhosis was found to significantly lower the mortality rate. The best results were seen in patients with alcohol-induced cirrhosis.230 However, a systematic review by the Cochrane Collaboration found limited beneficial effects of milk thistle for patients with alcoholic or viral hepatitis. This meta-analysis of 18 randomized trials involved a total of 1088 patients. Compared to placebo or observation, milk thistle did not appear to improve the overall mortality, complications of liver disease, or liver cirrhosis. Overall liver-related mortality was significantly reduced in patients taking milk thistle. However, the statistical significance of this benefit disappeared when only data from the high-quality trials were used. No significant side effects were observed amongst the trials.231

Results from studies investigating the use of silymarin in the management of hepatitis are inconclusive.<sup>53</sup> While a number of studies have noted an improvement in objective outcomes in both chronic and acute hepatitis,<sup>214,232</sup> a number have shown no significance difference between silymarin and placebo.<sup>214</sup> In addition, the majority of these studies assessed i.v. administration, limiting the applicability of this information to oral administration of milk thistle products.<sup>53</sup>

There have been attempts to improve oral absorption by converting milk thistle or its com-

ponents to lipid-compatible complexes (e.g., milk thistle phytosome, silybin-phosphatidylcholine complex, Siliphos, Siliphost).<sup>233</sup> To date, however, this has not been shown to provide significant clinical effectiveness for any particular indication.<sup>46</sup> Also, there is some evidence that milk thistle, as part of a combination product (Iberogast, Enzymatic Therapy), may be more effective than placebo when taken as 1 mL three times daily over a 4-week period in improving dyspeptic symptoms (e.g., acid reflux, epigastric pain, cramping, nausea, vomiting). Other ingredients contained in this product include peppermint leaf, clown's mustard plant, caraway, licorice, German chamomile, celandine, angelica, and lemon balm.<sup>156,157</sup>

#### **Adverse effects**

Adverse effects of milk thistle may include nausea, dyspepsia, bloating, and flatulence, although all of these are less common than diarrhea.<sup>53</sup> Furthermore, there is a cross-sensitivity in patients allergic to other members of the Asteraceæ (also known as the Compositæ) family, such as ragweed and chrysanthemums.

#### **Cautions/contraindications**

Long-term safety has yet to determined in pregnancy and lactation.<sup>53</sup> It can also decrease elevated serum transminase levels caused by other medicines.<sup>46</sup>

#### **Drug interactions**

While no cases could be found, the hepatic properties of milk thistle may influence medications whose metabolism is heavily determined by liver function.<sup>53</sup> Milk thistle can inhibit hepatic glucuronidation as well as cytochromes P450 2C9<sup>234</sup> and 3A4.<sup>40</sup> However, one study in healthy volunteers showed no clinically relevant effects on 3A4.<sup>255</sup> This disparity may be a result of the specific milk thistle formulation used in these studies, and therefore caution is still warranted.

#### Response

An important point to explain to Mrs. Jones is the difference between milk thistle dosage forms. The vast majority of the information related to milk thistle comes from studies assessing standardized extracts. A standardized extract is one in which the product contains a specific amount of a particular agent, in this case silymarin. It is also important to note that silymarin (the most active agent) is not soluble in water, and so the cheaper tea would probably not be as effective. With regard to efficacy, there appears to be limited RCT information supporting the use of milk thistle products standardized to silymarin content in the management

of alcohol-induced liver conditions. Also, only animal data exist to support its use as a hepatoprotectant to acetaminophen. Thus, there is unlikely to be any benefit from the milk thistle tea and only a theoretical benefit of using a dosage form standardized to silymarin. It is important to note that many of these products are not available on the market.

### **References**

- Esmail N. Complimentary and alernative medicine in Canada: Trends in use and public attitudes, 1997– 2007. Public Policy Sources. The Fraser Institute. 2007 May; 87. www.fraserinstitute.org/commerce. web/product\_files/ComplementaryAlternative-Medicine.pdf, accessed 1 November 2008.
- Boon H, Stewart M, Kennard MA, et al. Use of complementary/alternative medicine by breast cancer survivors in Ontario: prevalence and perceptions. J Clin Oncol 2000;18:2515–2521.
- 3. de Lemos ML, John L, Nakashima L, et al. Advising cancer patients on natural health products - a structured approach. Ann Pharmacother 2004;38(9):1406– 1411.
- 4. Weiger WA, Smith M, Boon H, et al. Advising patients who seek complementary and alternative medical therapies for cancer. Ann Intern Med 2002;137(11):889–903.
- 5. De Weerdt CJ, Bootsma HPR, Hendriks H. Herbal medicines in migraine prevention. Phytomedicine 1996;3:225–230.
- 6. Smith M, Boon H, Burman D. Alternative medicine: a survival guide. Can Pharm J 1996;129(6):36–42.
- 7. Barnes J. Homoeopathy. Pharm J 1998;260:492-497.
- Boon H, Smith M, Muzzin L. Homeopathic Products. In: Carruthers-Czyzewski P, ed. Non-Prescription Drug Reference for Health Professionals. Ottawa: Canadian Pharmacists' Association, 1996. pp. 361–373.
- Reilly D. Evidence for Homeopathy. The Art and Science of Healing. Vancouver: Tzu Chi Institute/ British Columbia College of Family Physicians, 1998.
- Jacobs J, Jiminez L, Gloyd S, Casares F, Gaitan M, Crothers D. Homœopathic treatment of acute childhood diarrhea: a randomized clinical trial in Nicaragua. Br J Homeopathy 1993;82:83–86.
- Reilly D, Taylor MA, Beattie NG, et al. Is evidence for homœopathy reproducible? [see comments]. Lancet 1994;344:1601–1606.
- 12. Kleijnen J, Knipschild P, ter Riet G. Clinical trials of homoeopathy. BMJ 1991;302:316–323.
- 13. Belon P. Homeopathy and Research. Lyon, France: Boiron, 1998.
- 14. Ernst E. Homeopathy revisited. Arch Intern Med 1996;156:1162–1163.
- 15. Linde K, Clausius N, Ramirez G, Melchart D, Eitel

F, Hedges L. Are the clinical effects of homœopathy placebo effects? A meta-analysis of placebo-controlled trials. Lancet 1997;350:834–843.

- Linde K, Scholz M, Ramirez G, et al. Impact of study quality on outcome in placebo-controlled trials of homeopathy. J Clin Epidemiol 1999;52(7):631–636.
- 17. Langman M. Homœopathy trials: reason for good ones but are they warranted. Lancet 1997;350:825.
- Shang A, Huwiler-Muntener K, Nartey L, et al. Are the clinical effects of homoeopathy placebo effects? Comparative study of placebo-controlled trials of homoeopathy and allopathy. Lancet 2005;366(9487):726–732.
- 19. Morice A. Adulterated "homoeopathic" cure for asthma. Lancet 1986;1(8485):862–863.
- 20. Abbot N, Hill M, Barnes J, Hourigan P, Ernst E. Uncovering suspected adverse effects of complementary and alternative medicine. Int J Risk Safety Med 1998;11:99–106.
- 21. Werbach M, Murray M. Nutritional Influences on Illness. (2nd ed.) Tarzana: Third Line Press, 1993.
- 22. Department of Health. Natural Health Products Regulations. Canada Gazette, Part II, June 5, 2003: 1532–1667.
- 23. Cui J, Garle P, Eneroth P, et al. What do commercial ginseng preparations contain? Lancet 1994;344:134.
- 24. Health Canada Online 2002–46, June 19, 2002. www.hc-sc.gc.ca/english/protection/warnings/2002/2002\_46e.htm
- Hall T, Lu Z-Z, Yat PN, Fitzloff JF, Arnason JT, Awang DVC, et al. Ginseng evaluation program. Part one: standardized phase. HerbalGram 2001;52:27-45.
- American Herbal Products Association. Botanical Safety Handbook. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 1997.
- 27. Health Canada Online 2002–56, August 21, 2002. www.hc-sc.gc.ca/english/protection/ warnings/2002/2002\_56e.htm
- 28. Rowin J, Lewis SL. Spontaneous bilateral subdural hematomas associated with chronic Ginkgo biloba ingestion. Neurology 1996;46(6):1775–1776.
- 29. Gilbert GJ. Ginkgo biloba.[comment]. Neurology 1997;48(4):1137.
- Rosenblatt M, Mindel J. Spontaneous hyphema associated with ingestion of Ginkgo biloba extract. N Engl J Med 1997;336(15):1108.
- Matthews MK, Jr. Association of Ginkgo biloba with intracerebral hemorrhage. Neurology 1998;50(6):1933–1934.
- 32. Vale S. Subarachnoid haemorrhage associated with Ginkgo biloba. Lancet 1998;352(9121):36.
- Fessenden JM, Wittenborn W, Clarke L. Gingko biloba: a case report of herbal medicine and bleeding postoperatively from a laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Am Surg 2001;67(1):33–35.
- Shaw D et al. Traditional remedies and food supplements. A 5-year toxicological study (1991–1995).

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

Drug Safety. 1997;17:342-356.

- 35. de Lemos ML. Effects of soy phytoestrogens genistein and daidzein on breast cancer growth. Ann Pharmacother 2001;35(35):1118–1121.
- de Lemos M. Safety issues of soy phytoestrogens in breast cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2002;20(13):3040– 3042.
- 37. de Lemos ML. Should breast cancer patients and survivors stay away from phytoestrogens? Current Top Nutraceut Res 2004;2(1):5–12.
- de Lemos ML, O'Brien RK. Effects of flaxseed phytoestrogens on breast cancer growth. J Oncol Pharm Prac 2004;10(3):145–147.
- 39. Perlman BB. Interaction between lithium salts and ispaghula husk. Lancet 1990;35:416.
- 40. Budzinski JW, Foster BC, Vandenhoek S, Arnason JT. An *in vitro* evaluation of human cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibition by selected commercial herbal extracts and tinctures. Phytomedicine 2000;7:273–282.
- 41. Schulz V. Incidence and clinical relevance of the interactions and side effects of *Hypericum* preparations. Phytomedicine 2001;8:152–160.
- 42. Mathijssen RHJ, Verweij J, de Bruijn P, et al. Effects of St. John's wort on irinotecan metabolism. J Natl Cancer Inst 2002;94(16):1247–1249.
- 43. Heck AM, DeWitt BA, Lukes AL. Potential interactions between alternative therapies and warfarin. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2000;57:1221–1227.
- Farnsworth N. Databases Containing Information Pertaining to Botanical Medicine. In: Eskinazi D, ed. Botanical Medicine: Efficacy, Quality Assurance and Regulation. Larchmont: Mary Ann Liebert, 1998; 55–57.
- 45. de Lemos ML. Pharmacist's role in meeting the psychosocial needs of cancer patients using complementary therapy. Psychooncology 2005;14:204–210.
- 46. Natural Medicines Comprehensive Database. Therapeutic Research Faculty, 2005. www.naturaldatabase.com, accessed 12 December, 2005.
- 47. Foster S, Chongxi Y. Herbal Emissaries. Bringing Chinese Herbs to the West. Rochester, Vermont: Healing Arts Press, 1992.
- 48. Awang D. Ginger. Can Pharm J 1992;125:309-311.
- 49. Blumenthal MT, Hall R, Rister B, eds. The German Commission E Monographs. Austin, Texas: American Botanical Council, 1996.
- Bradley P. British Herbal Compendium. Bourne¬mouth: British Herbal Medical Association, 1992.
- 51. Brinker F. A comparative review of eclectic female regulators. J Naturopathic Med 1996;7(1):11–26.
- Leung A, Foster S. Encyclopedia of Common Natural Ingredients used in Food, Drugs and Cosmetics. (2nd ed.) NY: John Wiley and Sons, 1996.
- 53. Boon H, Smith M. Botanical Pharmacy. Kingston: Quarry Press, 1999.

- 54. Brown D. Herbal prescriptions for better health. Rocklin, CA: Prima Publishing, 1995.
- 55. Verma S, Singh J, Khamesra R, Bordia A. Effect of ginger on platelet aggregation in man. Indian J Med Res 1993;98:240–242.
- 56. Srivastava K. Effects of aqueous extracts of onion, garlic and ginger on the platelet aggregation and metabolism of arachidonic acid in the blood vascular system. *In vitro* study. Prostaglandins Leukot Med 1984;13:227–235.
- 57. Lumb A. Effect of dried ginger on human platelet function. Thromb Hæmost 1994;71(1):110–111.
- 58. Srivastava K, Mustafa T. Ginger (*Zingiber officinale*) in rheumatism and musculoskeletal disorders. Med Hypotheses 1992;39:342–348.
- 59. Sharma J, Srivastava K, Gan E. Suppresive effects of eugenol and ginger oil on arthritic rats. Pharmacology 1994;49(5):314–318.
- Holtmann S, Clarke A, Scherer H, Hohn M. The antimotion sickness mechanism of ginger. A comparative study with placebo and dimenhydrate. Acta Otolaryngol (Stockh) 1989;198(3–4):168–174.
- 61. Kawai T, Kinosita K. Antiemetic principle of Magnolia obovata and Zinigiber officinale rhizome. Planta Med 1994;60:17–20.
- 62. Lumb A. Mechanism of antiemetic effect of ginger. Anaesthesia 1993;48(12):1118.
- 63. Stewart J, Wood M, Mims M. Effects of ginger on motion sickness susceptibility and gastric function. Pharmacology 1991;42:111–120.
- Phillips S, Ruggier R, Hutchinson S. Zingiber officinale (Ginger) – an antiemetic for day case surgery. Anaesthesia 1993;48(8):715–717.
- Pathak S, Prakash AO. Active components of ginger exhibiting antiserotonergic action. Phytother Res 1989;3(2):70–71.
- Srivastava K, Mustafa T. Ginger (*Zingiber offici-nale*) and rheumatic disorders. Med Hypotheses 1989;29:25–28.
- 67. Mowrey D, Clayson D. Motion sickness, ginger and psychophysics. Lancet 1982:655–657.
- Grontved A, Brask T, Kambskard J, Hentzer E. Ginger root against sea-sickness. Acta Otolaryngol (Stockh) 1988;105(1-2):45-9.
- 69. Wood C, Manno J, Wood M, Manno B, Mims M. Comparison of efficacy of ginger with various antimotion sickness drugs. Clin Res Pract Drug Reg Affairs 1988;6(2):129–136.
- Riebenfeld D, Borzone L. Randomized double-blind study comparing ginger (Zintona) and dimenhydrate in motion sickness. Healthnotes 1999;6(2):98– 101.
- 71. Careddu P. Motion sickness in children: results of a double-blind study with ginger (zintona) and dimenhydrate. Healthnotes 1999;6(2):102–107.
- 72. Tyler V. Tyler's Herbs of Choice: The Therapeutic Use of Phytomedicinals. Binghampton, NY: Pharma-

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

ceutical Products Press, 1994.

- Brown D. Antimotion sickness action of ginger questioned. Q Rev Natural Med 1993;Spring:15–16.
- 74. European Scientific Cooperative of Phytotherapy. *Zingiberis rhizoma*/Ginger. ESCOP.1997: monograph.
- 75. Bone M, Wilkinson D, Young J, McNeil J, Charlton S. Ginger root – a new antiemetic. The effect of ginger root on postoperative nausea and vomiting after major gynæcological surgery. Anæsthesia 1990;48(8):669–671.
- 76. Arfeen Z, Owen H, Plummer J, Ilsley A, Sorby-Adams R, Doeke C. A double-blind randomized controlled trial of ginger for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Anaesth Intensive Care 1995;23(4):449–452.
- Fischer-Rasmussen W, Kjaer S, Dahl C, Asping U. Ginger treatment of hyperemesis gravidarum. Eur J Obstet Gynaecol Reprod Biol 1990;38:19–24.
- 78. Vutyavanich T, Kraisarin T, Ruangsri R-A. Ginger for Nausea and vomiting in pregnancy: randomized, double-masked, placebo-controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol 2001;97:577–582.
- Willetts KE, Ekangaki A, Eden JA. Effect of a ginger extract on pregnancy-induced nausea: a randomised controlled trial. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2003;43(2):139–144.
- Portnoi G, Chng LA, Karimi-Tabesh L, et al. Prospective comparative study of the safety and effectiveness of ginger for the treatment of nausea and vomiting in pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2003;189(5):1374–1377.
- Smith C, Crowther C, Willson K, et al. A randomized controlled trial of ginger to treat nausea and vomiting in pregnancy. Obstetrics & Gynecology 2004;103(4):639–645.
- Jewell D, Young G. Interventions for nausea and vomiting in early pregnancy.[update of Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2002;(1):CD000145; PMID: 11869567]. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2003(4):CD000145.
- 83. Borrelli F, Capasso R, Aviello G, et al. Effectiveness and safety of ginger in the treatment of pregnancyinduced nausea and vomiting. Obstet Gynecol 2005;105(4):849–856
- Nagabhushan M, Amonkar A, Bhide S. Mutagenicity of gingerol and shogaol and anti-mutagenicity of zingerone in salmonella/microsome assay. Cancer Letters 1987;36:221–223.
- 85. Nakamura H, Yamamoto T. Mutagen and antimutagen in ginger, *Zingiber officinale*. Mutat Res 1982;103:119–126.
- Fulder S, Tenne M. Ginger as an anti-nausea remedy in pregnancy. The issue of safety. HerbalGram 1996;38:47–50.
- Qureshi S, Shah A, Tariq M, Ageel A. Studies on herbal aphrodisiacs used in Arab system of medicine. Am J Chin Med 1989;17(1–2):57–63.

- Kruth P, Brosi E, Fux R, et al. Ginger-Associated Overanticoagulation by Phenprocoumon. Ann Pharmacother 2004;38(2):257–260.
- Natural Medicines Comprehensive Database. Ginger; monograph. Therapeutic Research Faculty, 2005. www.naturaldatabase.com, accessed 12 December, 2005.
- 90. Lepik K. Safety of herbal medications in pregnancy. Can Pharm J 1997;130(3):29–33.
- Aikins Murphy P. Alternative therapies for nausea and vomiting of pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 1998;91(1):149–155.
- 92. Wren R. Potter's New Cyclopedia of Botanical Drugs and Preparations. Saffron Walden: C.W. Daniel Co, 1988.
- 93. Evans W. Trease and Evan's Pharmacognosy. (13th ed.) London: Bailliere Tindall, 1989.
- 94. Hoffman D. Holistic Herbal. Rockport: Element Books, 1996.
- 95. Chevallier A. The Encyclopedia of Herbal Medicine. London: Reader's Digest, 1996.
- Hudson T. Wild yam, natural progesterone, unraveling the confusion. Townsend Letter for Doctors and Patients 1996;July:125–127.
- 97. Brinker F. A comparative review of eclectic female regulators. J Naturopathic Med 1996;7(1):11–26.
- Araghiniknam M, Chung S, Nelson-White T, Eskelson C, Watson RR. Antioxidant activity of dioscorea and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) in older humans. Life Sci 1996;59(11):PL147–PL157.
- 99. Dollbaum C. Lab analyses of salivary DHEA and progesterone following ingestion of yam-containing products. Townsend Letter for Doctors and Patients 1996;159:104.
- 100. Komesaroff PA, Black CV, Cable V, et al. Effects of wild yam extract on menopausal symptoms, lipids and sex hormones in healthy menopausal women. Climacteric 2001;4(2):144–150.
- 101. Craddick J. Potential hazards of Mexican Yam. Townsend Letter for Doctors and Patients 1996;August/September:101.
- 102. McGuffin M. et al. American Herbal Products Association Botanical Safety Handbook. Boca Raton FL: CRC Press, 1997.
- 103. Park HS, Kim MJ, Moon HB. Occupational asthma caused by two herb materials, *Dioscorea batatas* and *Pinellia ternata*. Clin Exp Allergy 1994;24(6):575–581.
- 104. Hudson T. Naturopathic specific condition review: menopause. Protocol J Botanic Med 1996;1(4):99– 103.
- 105. De Marco C. Take Charge of Your Body. (6th edition ed.) Toronto: Well Women Press, 1996.
- 106. Boice JL. Estrogen and progesterone: A review. J Naturopathic Med 1997;7(1):35–41.
- 107. Gaby A. Preventing and Reversing Osteoporosis. Rocklin,CA: Prima Publishing, 1994.
- 108. Prior J. Progesterone as a bone-trophic hormone.

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

Endocr Rev 1990;11:386-398.

- 109. Lee J. Osteoporosis reversal with transdermal progesterone. Lancet 1990;336:1327.
- 110. Lee J. Osteoporosis reversal: The role of progesterone. Int Clin Nutr Rev 1990;10(3):384-391.
- 111. Taylor M. Alternatives to conventional hormone replacement therapy. Compr Ther 1997;23(8):514– 532.
- 112. Love S, Lindsey K. Dr. Susan Love's Hormone Book. New York: Random House, 1997.
- 113. Houghton PJ. Valerian. Pharm J 1994;253:95-96.
- 114. Hobbs C. Valerian. *Valeriana officinalis*: a literature review. HerbalGram 1989;21(Fall):19–34.
- 115. Hendriks H, et al. Eugenyl isovalerate and isoeugenyl isovalerate in the essential oil of Valerian root. Phytochemistry 1977;16:1853–1854.
- 116. Bos R, et al. Isolation and identification of valerenane sesquiterpenoids from Valeriana officinalis. Phytochemistry 1986;25:133–135.
- 117. European Scientific Cooperative of Phytotherapy. Valerianae radix/valerian root. ESCOP, 1997;monograph.
- 118. Holzl J, Godau P. Receptor binding studies with *Valeriana officinalis* on the benzodiazepine receptor. Planta Med 1989;55:642.
- 119. Mennini T, Bernasconi P, et.al. *In vitro* study in the interaction of extracts and pure compounds from *Valeriana officinalis* roots with GABA, benzodiazepine and barbituate receptors. Fitoterapia 1993;64:291–300.
- 120. Cavadas C, Araujo I, Cotrim MD, et al. *In vitro* study on the interaction of *Valeriana officinalis* L. extracts and their amino acids on GABAA receptor in rat brain. Arzneimittelforschung 1995;45(7):753–755.
- 121. Bodesheim U, Holzl J. [Isolation and receptor binding properties of alkaloids and lignans from *Valeriana officialis* L.]. Pharmazie 1997;52(5):386–391.
- 122. Houghton PJ. The scientific basis for the reputed activity of valerian. J Pharm Pharmacol 1999; 51(5): 505–512.
- 123. Riedel E, et.al. Inhibition of gamma-aminobutyric acid catabolism by valerenic acid derivatives. Planta Med 1982;48:219–220.
- 124. Hendriks H, et.al. Central nervous system depressant activity of valerenic acid in the mouse. Planta Med 1985;51:28–31.
- 125. Veith J, et al. The influence of some degradation products of valepotriates on the motor activity of light-dark synchronized mice. Planta Med 1986;52:179–183.
- 126. Sakamoto T, Mitana Y, Nakajima K. Psychotropic effects of Japanese valerian root extracts. Chem Pharm Bull 1992;40:758–761.
- 127. Lindahl O, Lindwall L. Double blind study of a valerian preparation. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1989;32:1065–1066.
- 128. Leathwood PD, Chauffard F, Heck E, Munoz-Box R.

Aqueous extract of valerian root (*Valeriana officinalis*) improves sleep quality in man. Reduces sleep latency to fall asleep in man. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1982;17:65–71.

- 129. Leathwood PD, Chauffard F. Quantifying the effects of mild sedatives. J Psychiatr Res 1983;17:115–122.
- 130. Donath F, Quispe S, Diefenbach K, et al. Critical evaluation of the effect of valerian extract on sleep structure and sleep quality. Pharmacopsychiatry 2000;33(2):47–53.
- 131. Stevinson C, Ernst E. Valerian for insomnia: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. Sleep Medicine 2000;1(2):91–99.
- 132. Poyares DR, Guilleminault C, Ohayon MM, et al. Can valerian improve the sleep of insomniacs after benzodiazepine withdrawal? Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2002;26(3):539–545.
- 133. Garges HP, Varia I, Doraiswamy PM. Cardiac complications and delirium associated with valerian root withdrawal. JAMA 1998 Nov 11; 280 (18):1566–1567.
- 134. Glass J, Sproule BA, Herrmann N, et al. Acute pharmacological effects of temazepam, diphenhydramine, and valerian in healthy elderly subjects. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2003;23(3):260–268.
- 135. Dressing H, Riemann D, et al. Insomnia: Are valerian/balm combinations of equal value to benzodiazepine? Therapiewoche 1992;42:726–736.
- 136. Kohnen R, Oswald W. The effects of valerian, propranolol, and their combination on activation, performance, and mood of healthy volunteers under social stress conditions. Pharmacopsychiatry 1988;21:447-448.
- 137. Albrecht M, Berger W, et.al. Psychopharmaceuticals and safety in traffic. Zeits Allgemeinmed 1995;71:1215–1221.
- 138. Miller L. Herbal medicinals. Selected clinical considerations focusing on known or potential drug-herb interactions. Arch Intern Med 1998;158:2200–2211.
- 139. Budzinski JW, Foster BC, Vandenhoek S, Arnason JT. An *in vitro* evaluation of human cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibition by selected commercial herbal extracts and tinctures. Phytomedicine 2000;7: 273–282.
- 140. Berry M. The chamomiles. Pharm J 1995;254:191– 193.
- 141. Mann C, Staba EJ. The chemistry, pharmacology, and commercial formulations of chamomile. Herbs, Spices and Medicinal Plants 1984;1:235–280.
- 142. Tyler VE. The Honest Herbal. (3rd ed.) Philadelphia: George F. Stickley Co., 1993.
- 143. Achterrath-Tuckermann U, Kunde R, Flaskamp E, Isaac O, Thiemer K. Pharmacological investigations with compounds of chamomile V. Investigations on the spasmolytic effect of compounds of chamomile and kamillosan on the isolated guinea pig ileum. Planta Med 1980;39:38–50.

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

- 144. Isaac O. Pharmakologische Untersuchungen von Kamillen-Inhaltsstoffen. 1. Zur Pharmakologie des (-)-alpha Bisabolols und der Bisabololoxide (Ubersicht)/Pharmacological Investigations with compounds of chamomile 1. On the Pharmacology of (-)-alpha-bisabolol and bisabolol oxides (review). Planta Med 1979;35:118–123.
- 145. Jakovlev V, Isaac O, Thiemer K, Kunde R. Pharmacological investigations with compounds of chamomile II. New investigations on the antiphlogistic effects of (-)-alpha bisabolol and bisabolol oxides. Planta Med 1979;35:125–140.
- 146. Jakolev V, Isaac O, Flakamp E. Pharmacological investigations with compounds of chamomile VI. Investigations on the antiphlogistic effects of chamazulene and matricine. Planta Med 1983;49:67–73.
- 147. Della Loggia R, Carle R, Sosa S, Tubaro A. Evaluation of the anti-inflammatory activity of chamomile preparations. Planta Med 1990;56:657–658.
- 148. Safayhi H, Sabieraj J, Sailer E, Ammon H. Chamazulene: an antioxidant-type inhibitor of leukotriene B4 formation. Planta Med 1994;60(5):410–413.
- 149. Holzl J, Ghassemi N, Hahn B. Preparation of 14Cspiro ethers by chamomile and their use by an investigation of absorption. Planta Med 1986;52:533.
- 150. Szelenyi I, Isaac O, Thiemer K. Pharmacological experiments with compounds of chamomile III. Experimental studies of the ulceroprotective effect of chamomile. Planta Med 1979;35:218–227.
- 151. Viola H, Wasowski C, Levi de Stein M, et al. Apigenin, a component of *Matricaria recutita* flowers, is a central benzodiazepine receptor-ligand with anxiolyic effects. Planta Med 1995;61:213–216.
- 152. Miller T, Wittstock U, Lindequist U, Teuscher E. Effects of some components of the essential oil of chamomile, *Chamomilla recutitia* on histamine release from rat mast cells. Planta Med 1996;62:60–61.
- 153. McKay DL, Blumberg JB. A review of the bioactivity and potential health benefits of chamomile tea (Matricaria recutita L.) Phytother Res 2006 Jul;20(7):519– 530.
- 154. Korting H, Schafer-Korting M, Hart H, Laux P, Schmid M. Anti-inflammatory activity of hamamelis distillate applied topically to the skin. European J Clin Pharmacol 1993;44:315–318.
- 155. Merfort I, Heilmann J, Hagedorn-Leweke U, Lippold B. *In vivo* skin penetration studies of camomile flavones. Pharmazie 1994;49:509–511.
- 156. Madisch A, Holtmann G, Mayr G, et al. Treatment of functional dyspepsia with a herbal preparation. A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, multicenter trial. Digestion 2004;69(1):45–52.
- 157. Melzer J, Rosch W, Reichling J, et al. Meta-analysis: phytotherapy of functional dyspepsia with the herbal drug preparation STW 5 (Iberogast). Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2004;20(11–12):1279–1287.
- 158. Carl W, Emrich L. Management of oral mucositis

during local radiation and systemic chemotherapy:a study of 98 patients. J Prosthet Dent 1991;66:361–369.

- 159. Fidler P, Loprinzi C, O'Fallon J, et al. Prospective evaluation of a chamomile mouthwash for prevention of 5 FU induced oral mucositis. Cancer 1996;77(3):522–525.
- 160. Benner M, Lee H. Anaphylactic reaction to chamomile tea. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1973;52:307–308.
- 161. Casterline C. Allergy to chamomile tea. JAMA 1980;4:330-331.
- 162. Van Ketel W. Allergy to *Matricaria chamomilla*. Contact Dermatitis 1987;16:50–51.
- 163. Hausen B. A 6-year experience with compositæ mix. Am J Contact Dermat 1996;7(2):94–99.
- 164. Hausen B, Busker E, Carle R. The sensitizing capacity of compositæ plants. VII. Experimental investigations with extracts of *Chamomilla recutita* (L.) Rauschert and Anthemis cotula L. Planta Med 1984;50:229–234.
- 165. Mitchell J, Dupuis G. Allergic contact dermatitis from sesquiterpenoids of the compositæ family of plants. Br J Dermatol 1971;84:139–150.
- 166. Hausen B. The sensitizing capacity of compositæ plants III. Test Results and cross reactions in compositæ-sensitive patients. Dermatologica 1979;159:1– 11.
- 167. Paulsen E, Andersen K, Hausen B. Compositæ dermatitis in a Danish dermatology department in one year. Contact Dermatitis 1993;29:6–10.
- 168. Habersing S, Leuschner F, Isaac O, Theimer K. Pharmacological studies with compounds of chamomile IV. Studies on toxicity of (-) alpha bisabolol. Planta Med 1979;37:115–123.
- 169. Natural Medicines Comprehensive Database. German chamomil; monograph. Therapeutic Research Faculty, 2005. www.naturaldatabase.com, accessed 12 December 2005.
- 170. Subiza J, Subiza JL, Hinojosa M, et al. Anaphylactic reaction after the ingestion of chamomile tea; a study of cross-reactivity with other composite pollens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1989;84(3):353–358.
- 171. Briggs CJ. Evening primrose. Review of Pharm Canad 1986;119(5):249–254.
- 172. Horrobin DF. Gammalinolenic acid: an intermediate in essential fatty acid metabolism with potential as an ethical pharmaceutical and as a food. Reviews of Contemporary Pharmacotherapy 1990;1:1–45.
- 173. Horrobin D. The role of essential fatty acids and prostaglandins in premenstrual syndrome. J Reprod Med 1983;28:465–468.
- 174. Brush mg. Efamol (evening primrose oil) in the treatment of premenstrual syndrome. In: Horrobin DF, ed. Clinical uses for essential fatty acids. Buffalo, New York: Eden Press, 1982. p. 155.
- 175. Collins A, Cerin A, et al. Essential fatty acids in the treatment of premenstrual syndrome. Obstet Gynecol 1993;81:93–98.

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

- 176. Steinberg S. The treatment of late luteal phase dysphoric disorder. Life Sciences 1991;49(11):767–802.
- 177. Budeiri D, Li Wan Po A, Dornan JC. Is evening primrose oil of value in the treatment of premenstrual syndrome? Control Clin Trials 1996;17(1):60– 68.
- Pye JK, Mansel R, Hughes L. Clinical experience of drug treatments for masatalgia. Lancet 1985(ii):373– 377.
- 179. Mansel R, Pye J, Hughes L. Effects of essential fatty acids on cyclical mastalgia and non-cyclical breast disorders. Omega-6 Essential fatty acids: pathophysiology and roles in clinical medicine. New York: Alan R Liss, 1990. pp. 557–566.
- 180. Wetzig NR. Mastalgia: a 3 year Australian study. Aus N Z J Surg 1994;64(5):329–331.
- 181. Gateley CA, Miers M, Mansel R, Hughes L. Drug treatments for mastalgia: 17-year experience in the Cardiff mastalgia clinic. J R Soc Med 1992;85:12–15.
- 182. Genolet P, Delaloye J, De Grandi P. Diagnosis and treatment of mastodynia (French). Rev Med Suisse Romande 1995;115(5):385–390.
- 183. Anon. Cyclical breast pain what works and what doesn't. Drug Ther Bull 1992;30(1):1–3.
- 184. Chenoy R, Hussain S, Tayob Y, O'Brien PM, Moss MY, Morse PF. Effect of oral gamolenic acid from evening primrose oil on menopausal flushing. BMJ1994;308(6927):501–503.
- 185. Kleijnen J. Evening primrose oil [editorial] [see comments]. BMJ 1994;309(6958):824-825.
- 186. Li Wan Po A. Evening primrose oil. Pharm J 1991;246:670–676.
- 187. Barber HJ. Evening primrose oil: a panacea? Pharm J 1988;240:723–725.
- 188. Holman C, Bell A. A trial of evening primrose oil in the treatment of chronic schizophrenia. J Orthomol Psychiatr 1983;12:302–304.
- 189. Chandler R. Licorice, more than just a flavour. Can Pharm J 1985;September:421–424.
- 190. Marie-Snow J. *Glycyrrhiza glabra* L. (Leguminaceæ). Protocol J Botanical Med 1996;1(3):9–14.
- 191. Murray M. The Healing Power of Herbs. (2nd edition ed.) Rocklin,CA: Prima Publishing, 1992.
- 192. Mizutani K, Kuramoto T, Tamura Y, et al. Sweetness of glycyrrhetic acid 3-O-beta-D-monoglucuronide and the related glycosides. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 1994;58(3):554–555.
- 193. Walker BR, Edwards CR. Licorice-induced hypertension and syndromes of apparent mineralocorticoid excess. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 1994;23(2):359–377.
- 194. Schambelan M. Licorice ingestion and blood pressure regulating hormones. Steroids 1994;59(2):127– 130.
- 195. Armanini D, Lewicka S, Pratesi C, et al. Further studies on the mechanism of the mineralocorticoid action of licorice in humans. J Endocrinol Invest

1996;19(9):624-629.

- 196. Mauricio I, Francischetti B, Monteiro R, Guimaraes J. Identification of glycyrrhizin as a thrombin inhibitor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997;225:259– 263.
- 197. Kroes BH, Beukelman CJ, van den Berg AJ, Wolbink GJ, van Dijk H, Labadie RP. Inhibition of human complement by beta-glycyrrhetinic acid. Immunology 1997;90(1):115–120.
- 198. Morgan A, McAdam W, Pacsoo C, Darnborough A. Comparison between cimetidine and Caved-S in the treatment of gastric ulceration, and subsequent maintenance therapy. Gut 1982;23:545–551.
- 199. Glick L. Deglycyrrhizinated liquorice for peptic ulcer. Lancet 1982;2:817.
- 200. Tewari S, Wilson A. Deglycyrrhizinated liquorice in duodenal ulcer. Practitioner 1972;210:820-825.
- 201. Kassir Z. Endoscopic controlled trial of four drug regimens in the treatment of chronic duodenal ulceration. Irish Med J 1985;78:153–156.
- 202. De Smet P, Keller K, Hansel R, Chandler R. Adverse Effects of herbal drugs. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 1997. Vol 3.
- 203. Sigurjonsdottir HA, Franzson L, Manhem K, et al. Liquorice-induced rise in blood pressure: a linear dose-response relationship. J Hum Hypertens 2001;15(8):549–552.
- 204. Corrocher R. Pseudoprimary hyperaldosteronism due to liquorice intoxication. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 1983;5:467–470.
- 205. Werner S, Brismar K, Olsson S. Hyperprolactinemia and liquorice. Lancet 1979(1):319.
- 206. Armanini D, Bonanni G, Palermo M. Reduction of serum testosterone in men by licorice. NEJM 1999; 341:1158.
- 207. Nielsen I, Pedersen R. Life threatening hypokalemia caused by liquorice ingestion. Lancet 1984;1:1305.
- 208. Chamberlain T. Licorice poisoning, pseudoaldosteronism, heart failure. JAMA 1970;213:1343.
- 209. Teelucksingh S, Mackie A, Burt D, et al. Potentiation of hydrocortisone activity in skin by glycyrrhetinic acid. Lancet 1990;335:1060–1063.
- 210. Schleimer R. Potential regulation of inflammation in the lung by local metabolism of hydrocortisone. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991;4:166–173.
- 211. Chen M, Shimada F, Kato H, Yano S, Kanaoka M. Effect of oral administration of glycyrrhizin on the pharmacokinetics of prednisone. Endocrinology Japan 1991;38:167–174.
- 212. Lee YS, Lorenzo BJ, Koufis T, et al. Grapefruit juice and its flavonoids inhibit 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1996;59:62–71.
- 213. Foster S. Milk Thistle: *Silybum marianum*. Austin, Texas: American Botanical Council, 1996. Monograph.
- 214. Hikino H, Kiso Y. Natural products for liver disease. In: Wagner H, Hikino H, Farnsworth NR, eds.

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

Economic and Medicinal Plant Research. New York: Academic Press, 1988. Vol 2 p. 39–72.

- 215. Brown D. Silymarin education monograph. Q Rev Natural Med 1993;Summer:23-36.
- 216. Sonnenblicher J, Goldberg M, et.al. Stimulating effects of silibinin on the DNA-synthesis in partially hepatectomized rat livers: Non-response in hepatoma and other malignant cell lines. Biochem Pharmacol 1986;35:538–541.
- 217. Maguilo E, Scevola D, Carosi GP. Studies on the regenerative capacity of the liver in rats subjected to partial hepatectomy and treated with silymarin. Arzneim-Forsch Drug Research 1973;23:161–167.
- 218. Valenzuela A, Aspillaga M, et.al. Selectivity of silymarin on the increase of the glutathione content in defferent tissues of the rat. Planta Med 1989;55:420-422.
- 219. Fiebrich F, Koch H. Silymarin, an inhibitor of lipooxygenase. Experentia 1979;35:148–150.
- 220. Alarcon de la Lastra AC, Martin MJ, Motilva V, Jimenez M, La Casa C, Lopez A. Gastroprotection induced by silymarin, the hepatoprotective principle of *Silybum marianum* in ischemia-reperfusion mucosal injury: role of neutrophils. Planta Med 1995;61(2):116–119.
- 221. Dehmlow C, Erhard J, de Groot H. Inhibition of Kupffer cell functions as an explanation for the hepatoprotective properties of silibinin. Hepatology 1996;23(4):749–754.
- 222. Weiss RF. Herbal Medicine. Beaconsfield, England: Beaconsfield Publishers Ltd., 1988.
- 223. Hruby C. Silibinin in the treatment of the deathcap fungus poisoning. Forum 1984;6:23–26.
- 224. Faultisch H, Jahn W, Wieland T. Silibinin inhibition of amatoxin uptake in the perfused rat liver. Arzneim-Forsch Drug Research 1980;30:452–454.
- 225. Tuchweber B, Sieck R, Trost W. Prevention by silibinin of phalloidin-induced hepatotoxicity. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1979;51:265–275.
- 226. Campos R, Garrido A, et.al. Silibinin dihemisuccinate protects against glutathione depletion and lipid peroxidation induced by acetominophen on rat liver. Planta Med 1989;55:417–419.
- 227. Palasciano G, Portincasa P, et.al. The effect of silymarin on plasma levels of malondialdehyde in patients receiving long-term treatment with psychotropic drugs. Curr Ther Res 1994;S5:S37–S45.
- 228. Salami H, Sarna S. Effect of silymarin on chemical functional and morphilogical alterations of the liver. Scand J Gastroenterol 1982;17:517–521.
- 229. Pares A, Planas R, Torres M, et al. Effects of silymarin in alcoholic patients with cirrhosis of the liver: results of a controlled, double-blind, randomized and multicenter trial. J Hepatol 1998;28:615– 621.
- 230. Ferenci R, Gragosics B, et.al. Randomized controlled trial of silymarin treatment in patients with cirrhosis

of the liver. J Hepatol 1989;9:105-113.

- 231. Rambaldi A, Jacobs BP, Gluud C, et al. Milk thistle for alcoholic and/or hepatitis B or C virus liver diseases. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2007 Oct 17;(4):CD003620.
- 232. Buzzelli G, Moscarella S, Giustis A. A pilot study on the liver protective effect of silybin-phospatidylcholine complex (IdB1016) in chronic active hepatitis. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther Toxicol 1993;31(9):456–460.
- 233. Kidd P, Head K. A review of the bioavailability and clinical efficacy of milk thistle phytosome: a silybinphosphatidylcholine complex (Siliphos). Alt Med Rev 2005;10(3):193–203.
- 234. Beckmann-Knopp S, Rietbrock S, Weyhenmeyer R, et al. Inhibitory effects of silibinin on cytochrome P-450 enzymes in human liver microsomes. Pharmacol Toxicol 2000;86:250–256.
- 235. Evidence for safety and efficacy of finished natural health products. Natural Health Products Directorate. Health Canada. December 2006. Version 2.0. www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/alt\_formats/hpfbdgpsa/pdf/prodnatur/efe-paie-2006-eng.pdf, accessed 19 October 2008.
- 236. Tonetti DA, Zhang Y, Zhao H, Lim SB, Constantinou AI. The effect of the phytoestrogens genistein, daidzein, and equol on the growth of tamoxifen-resistant T47D/PKC alpha. Nutr Cancer 2007;58(2):222–229.
- 237. Yanase K, Tsukahara S, Mitsuhashi J, Sugimoto Y. Functional SNPs of the breast cancer resistance protein-therapeutic effects and inhibitor development. Cancer Lett 2006 Mar 8;234(1):73–80.
- 238. Gurley BJ, Swain A, Hubbard MA, Williams DK, Barone G, Hartsfield F, et al. Clinical assessment of CYP2D6-mediated herb-drug interactions in humans: effects of milk thistle, black cohosh, goldenseal, kava kava, St. John's wort, and Echinacea. Mol Nutr Food Res 2008 Jul;52(7):755–763.
- 239. Madabushi R, Frank B, Drewelow B, Derendorf H, Butterweck V. Hyperforin in St. John's wort drug interactions. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2006 Mar;62(3):225–233.
- 240. Xu H, Williams KM, Liauw WS, Murray M, Day RO, McLachlan AJ. Effects of St John's wort and CYP2C9 genotype on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of gliclazide. Br J Pharmacol 2008 Apr;153(7):1579–1786.
- 241. Bone KM. Potential interaction of Ginkgo biloba leaf with antiplatelet or anticoagulant drugs: what is the evidence? Mol Nutr Food Res 2008 Jul;52(7):764–771.
- 242. Jiang X, Blair EY, McLachlan AJ. Investigation of the effects of herbal medicines on warfarin response in healthy subjects: a population pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modeling approach. J Clin Pharmacol 2006 Nov;46(11):1370–1378.
- 243. Abdel-Aziz H, Windeck T, Ploch M, Verspohl EJ. Mode of action of gingerols and shogaols on 5-HT3

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

receptors: binding studies, cation uptake by the receptor channel and contraction of isolated guineapig ileum. Eur J Pharmacol 2006 Jan 13;530(1–2):136– 143.

- 244. Nanthakomon T, Pongrojpaw D. The efficacy of ginger in prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting after major gynecologic surgery. J Med Assoc Thai 2006 Oct;89 Suppl 4:S130-S136.
- 245. Apariman S, Ratchanon S, Wiriyasirivej B. Effectiveness of ginger for prevention of nausea and vomiting after gynecological laparoscopy. J Med Assoc Thai 2006 Dec;89(12):2003–2009.
- 246. Tavlan A, Tuncer S, Erol A, Reisli R, Aysolmaz G, Otelcioglu S. Prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting after thyroidectomy: combined antiemetic treatment with dexamethasone and ginger versus dexamethasone alone. Clin Drug Investig 2006;26(4):209–214.
- 247. Chaiyakunapruk N, Kitikannakorn N, Nathisuwan S, Leeprakobboon K, Leelasettagool C. The efficacy of ginger for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting: A meta-analysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2006;194(1):95–99.
- 248. ACOG issues guidance on treatment of morning sickness during pregnancy. ACOG News Release. 29 March 2004. www.acog.org/from\_home/publications/press\_releases/nr03-29-04-1.cfm, accessed 1 November 2008.
- 249. Bent S, Padula A, Moore D, Patterson M, Mehling W. Valerian for sleep: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Med 2006 Dec;119(12):1005–1012.
- 250. Taibi DM, Landis CA, Petry H, Vitiello MV. A systematic review of valerian as a sleep aid: safe but not effective. Sleep Med Rev 2007 Jun;11(3):209–230.
- 251. 251.Miyasaka LS, Atallah AN, Soares BG. Valerian for anxiety disorders. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006 Oct 18;(4):CD004515.
- 252. Ernst E. Herbal remedies for anxiety a systematic review of controlled clinical trials. Phytomedicine 2006 Feb;13(3):205–208.
- 253. Hellum BH, Hu Z, Nilsen OG. The induction of CYP1A2, CYP2D6 and CYP3A4 by six trade herbal products in cultured primary human hepatocytes. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 2007 Jan;100(1):23–30.
- 254. Maschi O, Cero ED, Galli GV, Caruso D, Bosisio E, Dell'Agli M. Inhibition of human cAMP-phosphodiesterase as a mechanism of the spasmolytic effect of Matricaria recutita L. J Agric Food Chem 2008 Jul 9;56(13):5015–5020.
- 255. Gurley B, Hubbard MA, Williams DK, Thaden J, Tong Y, Gentry WB, et al. Assessing the clinical significance of botanical supplementation on human cytochrome P450 3A activity: comparison of a milk thistle and black cohosh product to rifampin and clarithromycin. J Clin Pharmacol 2006 Feb;46(2):201– 213.
- 256. Rosolowich V, Saettler E, Szuck B, Lea RH, Levesque

P, Weisberg F, et al. Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada (SOGC). Mastalgia. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2006 Jan;28(1):49–74.

- 257. Viinikka I, Ylikorkala O. Biochemical and clinical effects of treating the premenstrual syndrome with prostaglandin synthesis precursors. J Reprod med 1985;30(3):149–153.
- 258. Collins A, Cerin A, Coleman G, Landgren B-M. Essential fatty acids in the treatment of premenstrual syndrome. Obstet Gynecol 1993;81:93–98.
- 259. Khoo SD, Munro C, Battistutta D. Evening primrose oil and treatment of premenstrual syndrome. Med J Aust 1990:153:198–192.
- 260. Srivastava A, Mansel RE, Arvind N, Prasad K, Dhar A, Chaba A. Evidence-based management of mastalgia: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Breast 2007 Oct;16(5):503–512.
- 261. Cheema D, Coomarasamy A, El-Toukhy T. Nonhormonal therapy of post-menopausal vasomotor symptoms: a structured evidence-based review. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2007 Nov;276(5):463–469.
- 262. Carroll DG. Nonhormonal therapies for hot flashes in menopause. Am Fam Physician. 2006 Feb 1;73(3):457–464.
- 263. Low Dog T. Menopause: a review of botanical dietary supplements. Am J Med 2005 Dec 19;118 Suppl 12B:98–108.

### **Appendix**

Databases, the internet, journals, and texts/monographs all provide important details about botanical products. While a detailed description of all the relevant sources of information is beyond the scope of this education program, brief descriptions of each are listed below.

#### Databases

While specialty databases play a key role in any search, a significant amount of information can be found by searching databases commonly used in conventional medicine. These include MEDLINE, TOXLINE, Embase, condition-specific databases (CANCERLINE and TOXLINE), Chemical abstracts, and BIOSIS. Specialty databases include NAPRALERT (Natural Product Alert), AGRIC-OLA, AltHealth Watch, and CMI (Complementary Medical Index). A challenge faced when searching these databases is the lack of universally accepted key words specifically used to describe botanical medicine, which often necessitates multiple searches using a variety of different terms.<sup>44</sup> For example, when attempting to locate information about a specific botanical medicine, it is usually necessary to search the databases using the plant's common name(s), Latin binomial, and any commercial brand names.

#### Internet

While the internet contains significant amounts of information on various herbal products, it is often thinly disguised advertising used by herbal vendors or manufacturers with the intention of promoting product sales rather than educating consumers or health care practitioners. A number of websites containing useful information on herbal medicine are listed below.

- National Center for Complementary and Alternative Medicine, National Institutes of Health, USA www.nccam.nih.gov
- Integrative Medicine Service at Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center
- www.mskcc.org/mskcc/html/11570.cfm
- Medline Plus Herbs and Supplements www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ druginformation.html
- MayoClinic Drugs & Supplements www.mayoclinic.com/health/druginformation/DrugHerbIndex
- M. D. Anderson Cancer Center's Complementary/Integrative Medicine Education Resources (CIMER)

www.mdanderson.org/departments/CIMER/

Herb Research Foundation
www.herbs.org

#### By subscription only:

- Natural Medicines Comprehensive Database www.naturaldatabase.com
- PhytoNet www.escop.com/phytonet.htm

#### Journals

A significant amount of information related to herbal medicine, especially with respect to evidence-based evaluation, can be found in mainstream peer-reviewed journals. These include *The Lancet*, the *British Medical Journal*, and the *New England Journal of Medicine*. The *Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA)* and its sister publications (the *Archives* series) dedicated an entire volume to the subject of CAM in November 1998. A number of quality journals and periodicals now exist containing information useful to the community pharmacist in obtaining relevant information about herbal medicine. Examples of these are listed below.

### Peer-reviewed dealing primarily with herbal medicine

- Phytomedicine
- Fitotherapia
- British Journal of Phytotherapy
- European Journal of Herbalism
- Planta Medica
- Phytotherapy Research
- Pharmaceutical Biology

### Non peer-reviewed dealing primarily with herbal medicine

- HerbalGram
- Australian Journal of Medical Herbalism
- Canadian Journal of Herbalism

#### Journals dealing with CAM in general that contain information on herbal products

- *Health-Notes* (formerly *Quarterly Review of Natural Medicine*)
- FACT (Focus on Alternative/Complementary Therapies)
- Complementary Therapies in Medicine

#### Texts/monographs

Over the last several years, a number of referenced botanical monograph series have been published. Key series include those published by ESCOP (European Scientific Cooperative on Phytomedicine), the World Health Organization, and the American Herbal Pharmacopœia. A text

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

that has quickly become the gold standard for issues regarding dosage, indications, and cautions/ adverse reactions is the Commission E monographs prepared by a department of the Federal German Government. This text was recently translated and modified by the American Botanical Council. Since it is an account of an expert committee, it is not referenced.

Pharmacognosy, the study of plant-based substances for medicinal use, has seen a revival in recent years. One standard pharmacognosy textbook is the 15<sup>th</sup> edition of *Trease & Evans' Pharmacognosy* (Bailliere Tindall). As a result of the increase in popularity of herbal medicine, a number of texts have also been written specifically for members of the primary health-care team. These include:

Barnes J, Anderson LA, Phillipson JD. *Herbal Medicines*, Third Edition (Pharmaceutical Press)

Boon H, Smith M. Botanical Pharmacy (Quarry Press)

Brinker F. *Herb Contraindications and Drug Interactions*, 3<sup>rd</sup> edition (Eclectic Medical Publications)

Kayne SB. *Complementary Therapies for Pharmacists* (Pharmaceutical Press)

Mason P. *Dietary Supplements* (Pharmaceutical Press)

Rapport L, Lockwood B. *Nutraceuticals* (Pharmaceutical Press)

Schulz V, Hansel R, Tyler V. *Rational Phytotherapy: A Physician's Guide to Herbal Medicine* (Springer Verlag)

### Questions

1. Which of the following statements regarding the safety of ginger in pregnancy is most accurate?

- a. There have been no human safety data with the use of ginger in pregnancy.
- b. Doses of ginger used in clinical trials are far higher than those used in traditional Chinese medicine.
- c. The risk of major malformations in infants did not seem to increase in pregnant patients who took ginger for morning sickness.
- d. The safety data of ginger in pregnancy is generally based on doses of approximately 9 g daily.

2. Under the Natural Health Products Regulations, which of the following statements regarding herbal products in Canada is false?

- a. All herbal products must comply with good manufacturing processes.
- b. Herbal remedies currently issued with a Drug Identification Number (DIN) would be transferred to have a Natural Product Number (NPN) and treated as natural health products rather than drugs.
- c. Evidence for efficacy of herbal remedies must be substantiated with at least two randomized controlled clinical trials.
- d. Herbal products can be sold for use in modifying organic functions to maintain or promote health (i.e., structure-function claims).

3. Which of the following statements regarding drug-herb interactions is false?

- a. Interactions can occur between oral herbal medicine and intravenous drugs.
- b. The low number of cases reported means that herbal products are unlikely to interact with drugs.
- c. Pharmacists should report drug-herb interactions to the Natural Health Products Directorate.
- d. Drug-herb interactions can be either pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic in nature.

4. Which of the following statements regarding the clinical use of ginger is the most accurate?

- a. It has a limited number of indications.
- b. The use of ginger as an anti-emetic is based on its ability in inhibiting platelet aggregation.
- c. Ginger may increase bleeding and should be stopped before surgery.
- d. There is extensive evidence on the use of ginger and vitamin B<sub>6</sub> in the management of morning sickness.

5. Which of the following statements regarding the mechanism of action of the purported sedative effects of valerian is most accurate?

- a. The gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) neurotransmitter system may be involved.
- b. Valerian occupies the 5HT3 serotonin receptor.
- c. Central opioid receptors are stimulated by valerian.
- d. The sedative effect of valerian is consistent with an antihistamine effect.

6. Which of the following statements regarding the clinical use of licorice is false?

- a. Carbenoxolone is a synthetic derivative of glycyrrhetinic acid, which is contained in licorice.
- b. Deglycyrrhizinated licorice (DGL) is a concentrated licorice product with potent effect on blood pressure.
- c. Licorice candies are not effective in the management of peptic ulcer.
- d. Licorice is widely used as a sweetener in herbal formulae.

7. Which of the following statements regarding the safety of German chamomile is false?

- a. Some of the associated side effects may be due to adulterants.
- b. Nausea and vomiting is a common side effect.
- c. It should be avoided in patients allergic to members of the sunflower (Asteraceæ) family.
- d. It should be used with caution in pregnancy.

8. Which of the following statements regarding the use of licorice is true?

- a. DGL tablets contain amounts of glycyrrhizin equivalent to those in most other licorice products.
- b. Licorice products should not be taken for more than 6 weeks at a time.
- c. Licorice is commonly used as a colouring agent in herbal medicine.
- d. Licorice candies can have significant pharmacological activity.

9. Which of the following statements about information resources regarding botanical medicine is most accurate?

- a. All high-quality information can only be accessed by subscription only.
- b. It is relatively easy to locate relevant information on herbal medicine in conventional databases such as MEDLINE because they are well indexed.
- c. Herbal medicine has been evaluated and reported in various mainstream peer-reviewed medical journals.
- d. Pharmacognosy, the study of plant-based substances for medicinal use, is a relatively new discipline.

10. Which of the following statements regarding the effectiveness of wild yam is true?

- a. There has been no randomized controlled trial on the use of wild yam for menopausal symptoms.
- b. Wild yam taken orally has been shown to reduce hot flashes.
- c. Topical application of wild yam has not been shown to be better than placebo in controlling menopausal symptoms.
- d. Sweet potato can be as effective as wild yam for dysmenorrhea.

11. Which of the following statements regarding milk thistle is false?

- a. It is highly insoluble in aqueous solutions.
- b. It belongs to the sunflower (Asteraceæ) family.
- c. It contains carbenoxolone, which may have hepatoprotective effects.
- d. It contains ingredients that may have antioxidant properties.

12. Which of the following statements regarding the effectiveness of milk thistle is the most accurate?

- a. It is well established that milk thistle can significantly reduce liver cirrhosis in patients with alcoholic liver disease.
- b. The clinical evidence does not support the use of milk thistle as a hepatoprotectant against acetaminophen.
- c. Overall, milk thistle has been shown to reduce mortality in patients with viral hepatitis.
- d. The best available evidence suggests that milk thistle is likely effective in reducing liver-related mortality in patients with liver cirrhosis.

13. Which of the following is the most appropriate adult therapeutic dose of ginger for nausea and vomiting in pregnancy?

- a. 1000 mg qid
- b. 9000 mg daily
- c. 250 mg qid
- d. 250 mg prn up to a dose of 5000 mg over 24 hours

14. Which of the following is an active constituent present in licorice?

- a. gamma linolenic acid (GLA)
- b. DGL
- c. silymarin
- d. glycyrrhizin

15. Which of the following herbal products should be used with caution in people taking conventional antiplatelet medication?

- a. ginger
- b. German chamomile
- c. wild yam
- d. valerian

16. Which of the following statements regarding the clinical use of German chamomile is false?

- a. It has been studied extensively for stress and stomach ulcers.
- b. As a combination product (Iberogast), it has been shown to be more effective in placebo in reducing symptoms of dyspepsia.
- c. It has not been compared to conventional treatment of peptic ulcers in clinical trials.
- d. The sedative effect of German chamomile has not been well studied.

17. Which of the following statements regarding the mechanism of action for licorice is false?

- a. It contains glycyrrhizin, which may be involved in the metabolism of some prostaglandins.
- b. It contains glycyrrhizin and glycyrrhetinic acid, both of which may influence aldosterone secretion and elimination.
- c. It contains carbenoxolone, which may decrease synthesis and secretion of protective mucus in the gastrointestinal tract.
- d. Deglycyrrhizinated licorice (DGL) has little effect on adrenal function.

18. Which of the following statements regarding the Natural Health Products Regulations is false?

- a. Only natural health products manufactured according to the GMPs should be marketed.
- b. Herbal remedies are given a different identification number from other natural health products.
- c. Traditional medicines are governed by the Natural Health Products Regulations.
- d. The regulations will not come into effect until January 1, 2010.

19. A patient shows you a homeopathic medicine in a dilution of 4DH. Which of the following statements is true?

- a. It means the same as 4X.
- b. All homeopathic products are diluted to contain less than Avogadro's number.
- c. The product has been made by diluting the raw material by a series of 4 successive 1 in 100 dilutions.
- d. It is four times more potent than the usual strength of the product.

20. Which of the following statements regarding herbal efficacy is most accurate?

- a. Health Canada requires at least randomized controlled clinical data to license a herbal product.
- b. Testimonials of aboriginal leaders may be accepted as supportive evidence for efficacy of herbal products based on traditional use claims.
- c. A product can be sold based on traditional use claim if it has been used within a cultural belief system (e.g., traditional Chinese medicine) for at least 100 consecutive years.
- d. The strength of supportive evidence is the same whether the product is licensed for therapeutic claims (e.g., treatment of a medical condition) or structure-function claims (e.g., maintaining health).

21. Which of the following statements regarding the mechanism of action of homeopathy is true?

- a. The exact mechanism of action of homeopathy has been clearly establishe
- b. Many homeopathic practitioners believe that the remedies encourage the body's own defensive healing ability.
- c. Patients' symptoms are believed to be a result of specific infectious processes.
- d. The explanation of its mechanism of action is highly plausible within the conventional biomedical model.

22. Which of the following statements regarding the effectiveness of homeopathy is true?

- a. Many high-quality clinical trials have shown that homeopathic medicine is superior to placebo for a number of indications.
- b. A meta-analysis has shown that homeopathy, as a discipline, is probably superior to conventional medicine.
- c. A meta-analysis comparing homeopathy and conventional medicine trials has shown that the effectiveness of homeopathy may be due to placebo effects.
- d. Homeopathy has been shown to be highly effective in preventing morning sickness in pregnancy.

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008

23. Which of the following statements regarding herbal medicine is false?

- a. Herbal medicine refers to the use of a plant, alga, or fungus or their extracts for a therapeutic purpose.
- b. Herbal remedies are not governed by the Natural Health Products Regulations of Health Canada.
- c. Other terms used for herbal medicine include botanical medicine, phytomedicine, and herbology.
- d. Both traditional Chinese medicine doctors and Western herbalists use very similar herbs for the same indication.

24. Which of the following statements regarding the safety of herbal medicine is true?

- a. All currently marketed herbal products have undergone extensive toxicology studies.
- b. Products such as ginger may increase bleeding.
- c. Pharmacists should never discuss theoretical risks of herbal products with the patients.
- d. No herbal products have ever been banned from sale in Canada.

25. Which of the following statements about advising patients on herbal products is most accurate?

- a. The pharmacist should emphasize that he or she is an expert in the use of herbal medicine.
- b. Information on the internet should be used as a basis to provide objective assessment of a particular product.
- c. A herbal product without clearly defined mechanisms of actions may still be pharmacologically active.
- d. If a patient wants a trial of a herbal product, all he or she needs to know is how to follow the instructions on the labelling.

26. Which of the following statements regarding the effectiveness of ginger for morning sickness in pregnancy is most accurate?

- a. There has been more research in the use of ginger for morning sickness than in motion sickness.
- b. Oral ginger may be more effective than placebo in reducing the severity of nausea and vomiting in pregnant patients.
- c. Oral ginger may be more effective than vitamin B<sub>6</sub> in controlling morning sickness.
- d. Our knowledge of the effectiveness of ginger is based on only one randomized controlled trial.

27. Which of the following statements regarding natural progesterone is most accurate?

- a. Wild yam has been shown to be converted to progesterone after topical application in humans.
- b. Natural progesterone is identical to that found in humans.
- c. A number of natural progesterone cream products can be legally available in Canada without prescription.
- d. Natural progesterone is safer than synthetic progesterone.

28. Which of the following statements regarding the clinical use of valerian is false?

- a. Valerian extract may have some effect in improving the quality of sleep, but further studies are needed to confirm its effect.
- b. Continuous use of valerian for at least several days may be needed before a therapeutic effect can be seen.
- c. There have been several reports of valerian causing excessive sedation when used with benzodiazepines.
- d. There are no clinical data that directly compare valerian and temazepam for insomnia.

29. Which of the following statements regarding the safety of licorice is true?

- a. Deglycyrrhizinated licorice (DGL) can induce significant inhibition of the metabolism of corticosteroids.
- b. Licorice should be used with caution in patients with high blood pressure.
- c. Patients taking DGL tablets should follow the same cardiovascular precautions as other licorice products.
- d. DGL has been associated with pseudoaldosteronism.

30. Which of the following statements regarding the safety of milk thistle is true?

- a. Milk thistle should be avoided in patients who are allergic to German chamomile.
- b. Milk thistle can be used safely in lactation since it has long been used as a promoter of lactation.
- c. Milk thistle may stimulate the cytochrome P450 3A4 enzyme, which is commonly involved in drug metabolism.
- d. One of the common side effects of milk thistle is itchiness.

#### Herbal Medicine in Canada 2008